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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements

Sysco Corporation and its Consolidated Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except for share data)

Mar. 31,
2018 Jul. 1, 2017 Apr. 1, 2017

(unaudited) (unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $901,551 $869,502 $855,133
Accounts and notes receivable, less allowances of
$65,647, $31,059, and $56,525 4,227,743 4,012,393 4,282,038

Inventories, net 3,259,771 2,995,598 2,944,327
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 231,064 139,185 139,298
Income tax receivable 95,742 16,760 104,765
Total current assets 8,715,871 8,033,438 8,325,561
Plant and equipment at cost, less depreciation 4,392,158 4,377,302 4,271,707
Other long-term assets
Goodwill 4,066,186 3,916,128 3,767,906
Intangibles, less amortization 1,056,068 1,037,511 1,085,946
Deferred income taxes 4,289 142,472 190,145
Other assets 394,570 249,804 279,635
Total other long-term assets 5,521,113 5,345,915 5,323,632
Total assets $18,629,142 $17,756,655 $17,920,900
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Notes payable $6,606 $3,938 $24,676
Accounts payable 4,235,856 3,971,112 3,849,670
Accrued expenses 1,515,682 1,576,221 1,328,773
Accrued income taxes — 14,540 —
Current maturities of long-term debt 288,055 530,075 526,691
Total current liabilities 6,046,199 6,095,886 5,729,810
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt 8,835,156 7,660,877 8,026,617
Deferred income taxes 161,193 161,715 185,178
Other long-term liabilities 1,199,472 1,373,822 1,568,523
Total long-term liabilities 10,195,821 9,196,414 9,780,318
Commitments and contingencies
Noncontrolling interests 35,909 82,839 80,244
Shareholders' equity
Preferred stock, par value $1 per share
    Authorized 1,500,000 shares, issued none — — —

Common stock, par value $1 per share
    Authorized 2,000,000,000 shares, issued 765,174,900 shares 765,175 765,175 765,175

Paid-in capital 1,357,399 1,327,366 1,307,914
Retained earnings 9,850,739 9,447,755 9,317,377
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,075,484 ) (1,262,737 ) (1,505,437 )
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Treasury stock at cost, 244,419,011,
    235,135,699 and 229,075,540 shares (8,546,616 ) (7,896,043 ) (7,554,501 )

Total shareholders' equity 2,351,213 2,381,516 2,330,528
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $18,629,142 $17,756,655 $17,920,900
Note: The July 1, 2017 balance sheet has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date.
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1
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Sysco Corporation and its Consolidated Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)
(In thousands, except for share and per share data)

13-Week Period Ended 39-Week Period Ended
Mar. 31,
2018 Apr. 1, 2017 Mar. 31,

2018 Apr. 1, 2017

Sales $14,349,504 $13,524,172 $43,411,418 $40,950,094
Cost of sales 11,673,876 10,990,037 35,242,736 33,152,177
Gross profit 2,675,628 2,534,135 8,168,682 7,797,917
Operating expenses 2,189,695 2,098,173 6,527,375 6,302,705
Operating income 485,933 435,962 1,641,307 1,495,212
Interest expense 136,145 81,004 303,015 226,858
Other expense (income), net (15,096 ) (4,815 ) (24,776 ) (14,351 )
Earnings before income taxes 364,884 359,773 1,363,068 1,282,705
Income taxes 34,799 121,495 381,230 445,373
Net earnings $330,085 $238,278 $981,838 $837,332

Net earnings:
Basic earnings per share $0.63 $0.44 $1.88 $1.53
Diluted earnings per share 0.63 0.44 1.85 1.52

Average shares outstanding 521,832,671 539,291,561 523,468,845 546,619,776
Diluted shares outstanding 527,990,563 544,068,915 529,434,527 551,797,431
Dividends declared per common share $0.36 $0.33 $1.05 $0.97

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2
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Sysco Corporation and its Consolidated Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Unaudited)
(In thousands)

13-Week Period
Ended 39-Week Period Ended

Mar. 31,
2018

Apr. 1,
2017

Mar. 31,
2018

Apr. 1,
2017

Net earnings $330,085 $238,278 $981,838 $837,332
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment 72,010 89,799 212,594 (189,884 )
Items presented net of tax:
Amortization of cash flow hedges 2,155 1,770 6,080 5,310
Change in net investment hedges (31,526 ) (16,464 ) (47,703 ) 8,797
Change in cash flow hedges (10,473 ) (4,711 ) (7,355 ) 2,843
Amortization of prior service cost 1,807 1,752 5,098 5,256
Amortization of actuarial loss, net 6,571 5,013 18,539 20,359
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 40,544 77,159 187,253 (147,319 )
Comprehensive income $370,629 $315,437 $1,169,091 $690,013

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3
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Sysco Corporation and its Consolidated Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)
(In thousands)

39-Week Period Ended
Mar. 31,
2018

Apr. 1,
2017

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings $981,838 $837,332
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided by operating activities:
Share-based compensation expense 72,742 65,560
Depreciation and amortization 563,732 667,275
Amortization of debt issuance and other debt-related costs 21,095 25,156
Loss on extinguishment of debt 53,104 —
Deferred income taxes 142,242 (40,286 )
Provision for losses on receivables 32,387 19,255
Other non-cash items 3,325 (338 )
Additional changes in certain assets and liabilities, net of effect of businesses acquired:
(Increase) in receivables (157,355 ) (292,530 )
(Increase) in inventories (202,779 ) (80,660 )
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets (27,301 ) 5,827
Increase in accounts payable 111,888 318,760
(Decrease) in accrued expenses (65,993 ) (229,925 )
(Decrease) in accrued income taxes (100,131 ) (182,089 )
(Increase) in other assets (46,671 ) (42,669 )
(Decrease) increase in other long-term liabilities (257,936 ) 11,756
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,124,187 1,082,424
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to plant and equipment (372,612 ) (413,776 )
Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment 16,910 19,091
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (203,608 ) (2,910,461)
Net cash (used for) investing activities (559,310 ) (3,305,146)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Bank and commercial paper borrowings, net 638,300 1,286,452
Other debt borrowings 1,005,490 2,010
Other debt repayments (538,967 ) (146,780 )
Tender and redemption premiums for senior notes (281,762 ) —
Debt issuance costs (7,081 ) (5,094 )
Proceeds from stock option exercises 238,392 175,332
Cash paid for shares withheld to cover taxes (20,664 ) (23,652 )
Treasury stock purchases (910,966 ) (1,531,074)
Dividends paid (534,741 ) (521,806 )
Net cash (used for) financing activities (411,999 ) (764,612 )
Effect of exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 24,745 (76,833 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 177,623 (3,064,167)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 869,502 3,919,300
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $1,047,125 $855,133
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest $226,882 $263,421
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Income taxes 218,059 673,076

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Sysco Corporation and its Consolidated Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Unless this Form 10-Q indicates otherwise or the context otherwise requires, the terms “we,” “our,” “us,” “Sysco,” or “the
company” as used in this Form 10-Q refer to Sysco Corporation together with its consolidated subsidiaries and
divisions.

1.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the company, without audit, with the exception of the
July 1, 2017 consolidated balance sheet, which was derived from the audited consolidated financial statements
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 1, 2017 (our 2017 Form 10-K). The
financial statements include consolidated balance sheets, consolidated results of operations, consolidated statements of
comprehensive income and consolidated cash flows.  In the opinion of management, all adjustments, which consist of
normal recurring adjustments, except as otherwise disclosed, necessary to present fairly the financial position, results
of operations, comprehensive income and cash flows for all periods presented have been made.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and notes thereto
included in our 2017 Form 10-K.  Certain footnote disclosures included in annual financial statements prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to
applicable rules and regulations for interim financial statements.

Reclassifications

Prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The following table sets forth the company’s reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported
within the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows that sum to the total of the same such amounts shown in the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows:

Mar. 31,
2018

Apr. 1,
2017

(In thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents $901,551 $855,133
Restricted cash (1) 145,574 —
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows $1,047,125 $855,133

(1)  Restricted cash as of March 31, 2018 primarily represents cash and cash equivalents of Sysco’s wholly owned
captive insurance subsidiary, formed in the second quarter of fiscal 2018, restricted for use to secure the insurer’s
obligations for workers’ compensation, general liability and auto liability programs. In addition, the restricted cash
balance includes cash related to acquisitions that is held in escrow until certain obligations are met. Restricted cash is
primarily located within other assets in the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2018, with a lesser amount
reported in other current assets.

2.  CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

Income Tax Accounting Implications of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act
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On December 22, 2017, the United States (U.S.) government enacted comprehensive tax legislation, commonly
referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the Tax Act). The Tax Act makes broad and complex changes to the
U.S. tax code that will affect the company’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2018. The Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, Income Tax Accounting Implications of the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act (SAB 118), which provides guidance on accounting for the tax effects of the Tax Act. SAB 118
provides a measurement period that should not extend beyond one year from the Tax Act enactment date for
companies to complete the accounting under Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740, “Income Taxes” (ASC
740). In accordance with SAB 118, a company must reflect the income tax effects of those aspects of the Tax Act for
which the accounting under ASC 740 is complete. To the extent that a company’s accounting for certain income tax
effects of the Tax Act is incomplete, but it is able to determine a reasonable estimate, it must record a provisional
estimate in its financial statements. If a company cannot determine a provisional estimate to be included in the
financial statements,

5
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it should continue to apply ASC 740 on the basis of the provisions of the tax laws that were in effect immediately
before the enactment of the Tax Act. Sysco has implemented SAB 118 and has provided required disclosures in Note
11, “Income Taxes.” 

Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities

In August 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging, which expands
and refines hedge accounting for both financial and non-financial risk components, aligns the recognition and
presentation of the effects of hedging instruments and hedge items in the financial statements, and includes certain
targeted improvements to ease the application of current guidance related to the assessment of hedge effectiveness.
Sysco has early adopted the standard using the modified retrospective approach to existing hedging relationships as of
the second quarter of fiscal 2018, rather than in fiscal 2020 as required by the ASU. Sysco believes that an early
adoption of the hedging standard will provide a better alignment between risk management activities and hedge
accounting, and reduce total cost of ownership of the risk management program. All transition requirements have been
applied to hedging relationships existing on the date of adoption and the effect of the adoption is reflected as of the
beginning of fiscal 2018. The cumulative effect of the accounting change on the opening balance of retained earnings
was immaterial to Sysco’s consolidated balance sheet. All required disclosures under ASU 2017-12 have been made in
Note 6, “Derivative Financial Instruments.”

Restricted Cash

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows: Restricted Cash (Topic 230). The ASU
clarifies the presentation of restricted cash on the statement of cash flows. Amounts generally described as restricted
cash and restricted cash equivalents should be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling between the
beginning and ending cash balances on the statement of cash flows. We retrospectively adopted the standard in the
second quarter of fiscal 2018, which was one year earlier than required. The adoption increases the ending cash
balance within our statement of cash flows by the aggregate amount of our restricted cash balances and requires a new
disclosure to reconcile the cash balances within our statement of cash flows to the balance sheets. See Supplemental
Cash Flow Information within Note 1, “Basis of Presentation.” There were no material restricted cash balances in prior
periods, and, therefore, there is no material impact to amounts reported for prior periods due to the retrospective
adoption of this ASU.

Stock Compensation

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting (Topic
718). The ASU identifies areas for simplification involving several aspects of accounting for share-based payment
transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as equity or liabilities, an option to
recognize gross stock compensation expense with actual forfeitures recognized as they occur, as well as certain
classifications on the statement of cash flows. The company elected to maintain the current policy to estimate
forfeitures expected to occur to determine stock-based compensation expense. Further, the company adopted the
provisions that have changed its accounting for excess tax benefits, or detriments. Excess tax benefits, or detriments,
were previously included within additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheet and were a part of the
diluted share calculation. With the adoption of ASU 2016-09 on a prospective basis, excess tax benefits, or detriments,
are included within income tax expense in the consolidated results of operations and are no longer a part of the diluted
share calculation. In the third quarter and the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, the company recognized excess tax
benefits of $14.9 million and $45.7 million from stock option exercises and restricted stock unit vestings that occurred
during the respective periods.
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The standard also requires several presentation changes with regard to the statement of cash flows. Cash flows related
to excess tax benefits or detriments are included in net cash provided by operating activities, rather than as a financing
activity. Sysco chose a retrospective application of this provision; therefore, amounts presented for fiscal 2017 reflect
the guidance required by this ASU. The standard further requires that cash paid by an employer, when directly
withholding shares for tax withholding purposes, should be classified as a financing activity and applied
retrospectively. Cash payments of $20.7 million and $23.7 million to tax authorities in connection with shares
withheld to meet statutory income tax withholding requirements are presented as a financing activity in the
consolidated statement of cash flows for fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.

Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment, which simplifies the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill
impairment test. The amendments also eliminate the requirements for any reporting unit with a zero or negative
carrying amount to perform a qualitative assessment and, if it fails that qualitative test, to perform Step 2 of the
goodwill impairment test. An entity still has

6
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the option to perform the qualitative assessment for a reporting unit to determine if the quantitative impairment test is
necessary.  The company early adopted this ASU in the first quarter of fiscal 2018.

3.  NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Reporting Comprehensive Income

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic
220), to allow a reclassification from accumulated comprehensive income to retained earnings for stranded tax effects
resulting from the Tax Act. The amendments in this update eliminate the stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax
Act; however, the underlying guidance that requires that the effect of a change in tax laws or rates be included in
income from continuing operations is not affected. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years, which is fiscal 2020 for Sysco, with early adoption permitted.
The company is currently reviewing the provisions of the new standard.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), and has issued
subsequent amendments to this guidance. This new standard will replace all current guidance on this topic and
eliminate all industry-specific guidance. The new revenue recognition standard provides a unified model to determine
when and how revenue is recognized.  The core principle is that a company should recognize revenue to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration for which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The guidance is effective for interim and annual periods
within new fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, which is fiscal 2019 for Sysco. The standard may be
applied either retrospectively to each period presented or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption.

As of the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2018, the company was nearing the completion of its assessment of the
accounting required under Topic 606 and is completing its documentation of these conclusions. Based on the work
completed to date, Sysco does not expect that the implementation of the new standard will have a material effect on
the company’s financial statements. The company will continue its assessment and will adopt the standard in the first
quarter of fiscal 2019 and expects to use the modified retrospective method. Enhanced disclosures, including revenue
recognition policies to identify performance obligations to customers and significant judgments in measurement and
recognition, are required.

Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), specifying the accounting for leases, which
supersedes the leases requirements in Topic 840, Leases. The objective of Topic 842 is to establish the principles that
lessees and lessors shall apply to report useful information to users of financial statements about the amount, timing,
and uncertainty of cash flows arising from a lease. Lessees are permitted to make an accounting policy election to not
recognize the asset and liability for leases with a term of twelve months or less. Lessors’ accounting is largely
unchanged from the previous accounting standard. In addition, Topic 842 expands the disclosure requirements of lease
arrangements. Topic 842 currently requires lessees and lessors to use a modified retrospective transition approach,
which includes a number of practical expedients. This guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018, which is fiscal 2020 for Sysco, with early adoption permitted.
The company is currently reviewing the provisions of the new standard.

4.  ACQUISITIONS
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During the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, the company paid cash of $203.6 million for acquisitions. These acquisitions
did not have a material effect on the company’s operating results, cash flows or financial position. Certain acquisitions
involve contingent consideration that may include earnout agreements that are typically payable over periods of up to
three years in the event that certain operating results are achieved.  As of March 31, 2018, aggregate contingent
consideration outstanding was $13.1 million, of which $9.7 million was recorded as earnout liabilities.

Brakes Group

On July 5, 2016, Sysco consummated its acquisition of Cucina Lux Investments Limited (a private company limited
by shares organized under the laws of England and Wales), a holding company of the Brakes Group, pursuant to an
agreement for the sale and purchase of securities in the capital of the Brakes Group, dated as of February 19, 2016, by
and among Sysco, entities

7
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affiliated with Bain Capital Investors, LLC, and members of management of the Brakes Group (the Brakes
Acquisition). The company paid cash of $2.9 billion, net of cash acquired, for the Brakes Acquisition. Following the
closing of the Brakes Acquisition, the Brakes Group became a wholly owned subsidiary of Sysco.

The Brakes Group is a large European foodservice business supplying fresh, refrigerated and frozen food products, as
well as non-food products and supplies, to foodservice customers ranging from large customers, including leisure,
pub, restaurant, hotel and contract catering groups, to smaller customers, including independent restaurants, hotels,
fast food outlets, schools and hospitals. Brakes Group businesses include: Brakes, Brakes Catering Equipment, Brake
France, Country Choice, Davigel, Fresh Direct, Freshfayre, M&J Seafood, Menigo Foodservice, Pauley’s, Wild
Harvest and Woodward Foodservice. The Brakes Group’s largest businesses are in the United Kingdom (U.K.),
France, and Sweden, in addition to a presence in Ireland, Belgium, Spain and Luxembourg.

5.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date (i.e., an exit price).  The accounting guidance
includes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.  The three
levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

•Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;

•Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that are observable either
directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability; and

•Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, which include management’s own assumption about the
assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk.

Sysco’s policy is to invest in only high-quality investments.  Cash equivalents primarily include cash deposits, time
deposits, certificates of deposit, commercial paper, high-quality money market funds and all highly liquid instruments
with original maturities of three months or less.

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities measured at fair value:

•Cash deposits included in cash equivalents are valued at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. These are
included within cash equivalents as a Level 1 measurement in the tables below.

•Time deposits and commercial paper included in cash equivalents are valued at amortized cost, which approximates
fair value.  These are included within cash equivalents as a Level 2 measurement in the tables below.

•Money market funds are valued at the closing price reported by the fund sponsor from an actively traded
exchange.  These are included within cash equivalents as Level 1 measurements in the tables below.

•The interest rate swap agreements are valued using a swap valuation model that utilizes an income approach using
observable market inputs including interest rates, LIBOR swap rates and credit default swap rates.

•
The foreign currency swap agreements, including cross-currency swaps, are valued using a swap valuation model that
utilizes an income approach applying observable market inputs including interest rates, LIBOR swap rates for U.S.
dollars, pound sterling and Euro currencies, and credit default swap rates.

•Foreign currency forwards are valued based on exchange rates quoted by domestic and foreign banks for similar
instruments.
•Fuel swap contracts are valued based on observable market transactions of forward commodity prices.

The fair value of the company’s derivative instruments are all measured using inputs that are considered a Level 2
measurement, as they are not actively traded and are valued using pricing models that use observable market
quotations. The location and the fair value of derivative assets and liabilities designated as hedges in the consolidated
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balance sheet are disclosed in Note 6, “Derivative Financial Instruments.”
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The following tables present the company’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31,
2018, July 1, 2017 and April 1, 2017:

Assets Measured at Fair Value as of
Mar. 31, 2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level
3 Total

(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents $384,528 $49,190 $ —$433,718
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (1) 43,364 — — 43,364
Other assets (1) 102,211 — — 102,211
Total assets at fair value $530,103 $49,190 $ —$579,293

(1) Represents restricted cash balances recorded within other current assets and other assets in the consolidated balance
sheet.

Assets Measured at Fair Value as of
Jul. 1, 2017

Level 1 Level 2 Level
3 Total

(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents $238,954 $49,430 $ —$288,384
Total assets at fair value $238,954 $49,430 $ —$288,384

Assets Measured at Fair
Value as of Apr. 1, 2017
Level
1 Level 2 Level

3 Total

(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents $91 $44,270 $ —$44,361
Total assets at fair value $91 $44,270 $ —$44,361

The carrying values of accounts receivable and accounts payable approximated their respective fair values due to their
short-term maturities.  The fair value of Sysco’s total debt is estimated based on the quoted market prices for the same
or similar issues or on the current rates offered to the company for new debt with the same maturities as existing debt,
and is considered a Level 2 measurement.  The fair value of total debt was approximately $9.3 billion, $8.6 billion and
$8.9 billion as of March 31, 2018, July 1, 2017 and April 1, 2017, respectively.  The carrying value of total debt was
$9.1 billion, $8.2 billion and $8.6 billion as of March 31, 2018, July 1, 2017 and April 1, 2017, respectively.

6.  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Sysco uses derivative financial instruments to enact hedging strategies for risk mitigation purposes; however, the
company does not use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. Hedging strategies are used
to manage interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and fuel price risk.
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Hedging of interest rate risk

Sysco manages its debt portfolio with interest rate swaps from time to time to achieve an overall desired position of
fixed and floating rates. In March 2018, the company entered into an interest rate swap agreement that effectively
converted $500.0 million of fixed rate debt maturing in 2025 to floating rate debt.

9
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Hedging of foreign currency risk

In fiscal 2017, Sysco entered into cross-currency swap contracts to hedge the foreign currency transaction risk of
certain pound sterling-denominated intercompany loans. There are no credit-risk related contingent features associated
with these swaps, which have been designated as cash flow hedges. The company has also entered into cross-currency
swap contracts and Euro-bond denominated debt that hedge the foreign currency exposure of our net investment in
certain foreign operations. Additionally, Sysco’s operations in the U.K. and Sweden have inventory purchases
denominated in currencies other than their functional currency, such as the Euro, U.S. dollar, Polish zloty and Danish
krone. These inventory purchases give rise to foreign currency exposure between the functional currency of each
entity and these currencies. The company enters into foreign currency forward swap contracts to sell the applicable
entity’s functional currency and buy currencies matching the inventory purchase, which operate as cash flow hedges of
the company’s foreign currency-denominated inventory purchases.

Sysco uses certain foreign currency contracts to hedge the effects of fluctuations in exchange rates on outstanding
intercompany loans. The company does not formally designate and document such derivative instruments as hedging
instruments; however, the instruments are an effective economic hedge of the underlying foreign currency exposure.
Both the gain or loss on the derivative instrument and the offsetting gain or loss on the underlying intercompany loans
are recognized in earnings immediately, thereby eliminating or reducing the impact of foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations on net earnings.

Hedging of fuel price risk

In fiscal 2017, Sysco began utilizing fuel commodity swap contracts to hedge against the risk of the change in the
price of diesel on anticipated future purchases. These swaps have been designated as cash flow hedges.

None of these hedging instruments contain credit-risk-related contingent features. Details of outstanding hedging
instruments as of March 31, 2018 are below:

Maturity Date of the Hedging Instrument Currency / Unit of Measure Notional
Value
(In
millions)

Hedging of interest rate risk
April 2019 U.S. Dollar 500
October 2020 U.S. Dollar 750
July 2021 U.S. Dollar 500
March 2025 U.S. Dollar 500

Hedging of foreign currency risk (1)

July 2021 British Pound Sterling 234

August 2021 British Pound Sterling 466

June 2023 Euro 500

Hedging of fuel risk
Various (April 2018 to January 2019) Gallons 41

(1) Foreign currency forward contracts used to hedge against foreign exchange exposures related to inventory
purchases are not material to Sysco’s overall hedging portfolio.

Edgar Filing: SYSCO CORP - Form 10-Q

20



10

Edgar Filing: SYSCO CORP - Form 10-Q

21



The location and the fair value of derivative instruments designated as hedges in the consolidated balance sheet as of
March 31, 2018, July 1, 2017 and April 1, 2017 are as follows:

Derivative Fair Value

Balance Sheet location Mar. 31,
2018

Jul. 1,
2017

Apr. 1,
2017

(In thousands)
Fair Value Hedges:
Interest rate swaps Other current assets $— $ 707 $659
Interest rate swaps Other assets 1,800 — —
Interest rate swaps Other long-term liabilities 49,256 21,390 28,062

Cash Flow Hedges:
Fuel swaps Other current assets $12,381 $ 717 $—
Foreign currency forwards Other current assets 533 — —
Fuel swaps Other assets — — 831
Cross currency swaps Other assets — — 4,211
Fuel swaps Other current liabilities — 6,160 —
Foreign currency forwards Other current liabilities 88 154 —
Foreign currency forwards Other long-term liabilities — — 431
Fuel swaps Other long-term liabilities — 160 —
Cross currency swaps Other long-term liabilities 34,690 5,816 —

Net Investment Hedges:
Foreign currency swaps Other assets $7,946 $ — $26,691
Foreign currency swaps Other long-term liabilities 71,784 12,308 22,693
Foreign denominated debt Long-term debt 616,450 571,450 532,750

11
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The location and amount of gains or losses recognized in the consolidated results of operations for fair value and cash
flow hedging relationships for each of the periods, presented on a pretax basis, are as follows:

13-Week Period Ended Mar. 31,
2018
Cost of
Goods Sold

Operating
Expense

Interest
Expense

(In thousands)
Total amounts of income and expense line items presented in the consolidated
results of operations in which the effects of fair value or cash flow hedges are
recorded

$11,673,876 $2,189,695 $136,145

Gain or (loss) on fair value hedging relationships:
Interest rate swaps:
Hedged items (1) $— $— $419
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments — — (15,740 )
Gain or (loss) on cash flow hedging relationships:
Fuel swaps:
Gain or (loss) reclassified from AOCI into income $— $4,438 $—
Foreign currency contracts:
Gain or (loss) reclassified from AOCI into income $348 $— $—
Interest rate swaps:
Gain or (loss) reclassified from AOCI into income (2) $— $— $(2,873 )

(1) The hedged total includes interest expense of $13.6 million and change in fair value of debt of $14.1 million.

(2) Losses reclassified from AOCI into income represent amortization of losses on forward starting interest rate swap
agreements that were previously settled.

39-Week Period Ended Mar. 31,
2018
Cost of
Goods Sold

Operating
Expense

Interest
Expense

(In thousands)
Total amounts of income and expense line items presented in the consolidated
results of operations in which the effects of fair value or cash flow hedges are
recorded

$35,242,736 $6,527,375 $303,015

Gain or (loss) on fair value hedging relationships:
Interest contracts:
Hedged items (1) $— $— $(22,325 )
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments — — (26,729 )
Gain or (loss) on cash flow hedging relationships:
Fuel swaps:
Gain or (loss) reclassified from AOCI into income $— $5,679 $—
Foreign currency contracts:
Gain or (loss) reclassified from AOCI into income $1,178 $— $—
Interest contracts:
Gain or (loss) reclassified from AOCI into income (2) $— $— $(8,619 )

(1) The hedged total includes interest expense of $47.8 million and change in fair value of debt of $25.5 million.

(2) Losses reclassified from AOCI into income represent amortization of losses on forward starting interest rate swap
agreements that were previously settled.
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The location and effect of derivatives not designated as hedging instruments on the consolidated results of operations
for the 13-week period ended March 31, 2018, presented on a pretax basis, are as follows:

13-Week Period Ended Mar. 31, 2018

Location of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Income on
Derivative

Amount of
Gain or
(Loss)
Recognized
in Income
on
Derivatives

Derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments: (In thousands)

Foreign currency contracts Other expense (income) $ (6,743 )

The location and effect of derivatives not designated as hedging instruments on the consolidated results of operations
for the 39-week period ended March 31, 2018, presented on a pretax basis, are as follows:

39-Week Period Ended Mar. 31, 2018

Location of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Income on
Derivative

Amount of
Gain or
(Loss)
Recognized
in Income
on
Derivatives

Derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments: (In thousands)

Foreign currency contracts Other expense (income) $ (8,859 )

The location and effect of cash flow and net investment hedge accounting on the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income for the 13-week period ended March 31, 2018, presented on a pretax basis, are as follows:

13-Week Period Ended Mar. 31, 2018
Amount
of Gain or
(Loss)
Recognized
in Other
Comprehensive
Income
on
Derivatives

Location of Gain or (Loss) Reclassified from
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income into Income

Amount of
Gain or (Loss)
Reclassified
from
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income into
Income

(In
thousands) (In thousands)

Derivatives in cash flow
hedging relationships:
Fuel swaps $(1,195 ) Operating income $ 4,438
Foreign currency contracts (12,875 ) Cost of goods sold 348
Total $(14,070) $ 4,786
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Derivatives in net investment
hedging relationships:
Foreign currency contracts $(24,420) Other expense (income) $ —
Foreign denominated debt (16,400 ) Other expense (income) —
Total $(40,820) $ —
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The location and effect of cash flow and net investment hedge accounting on the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income for the 39-week period ended March 31, 2018, presented on a pretax basis, are as follows:

39-Week Period Ended Mar. 31, 2018

Amount of
Gain or
(Loss)
Recognized
in Other
Comprehensive
Income on
Derivatives

Location of Gain or (Loss) Reclassified from
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income into Income

Amount of
Gain or (Loss)
Reclassified
from
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income into
Income

(In
thousands) (In thousands)

Derivatives in cash flow
hedging relationships:
Fuel swaps $18,855 Operating income $ 5,679
Foreign currency contracts (27,450 ) Cost of goods sold 1,178
Total $(8,595 ) $ 6,857

Derivatives in net investment
hedging relationships:
Foreign currency contracts $(56,580 ) Other expense (income) $ —
Foreign denominated debt (45,000 ) Other expense (income) —
Total $(101,580) $ —

The location and carrying amount of hedged liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2018 are as
follows:

Mar. 31,
2018

Mar. 31,
2018

Carrying
Amount of
Hedged
Assets
(Liabilities)

Cumulative
Amount of
Fair Value
Hedging
Adjustments
Included in
the Carrying
Amount of
Hedged
Assets
(Liabilities)

(In thousands)
Balance sheet location:
Long-term debt $(2,242,904) $ 45,030

As of March 31, 2018, the total notional amount of Sysco’s pay-fixed/receivable-variable interest rate swaps was $2.3
billion.    
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The location and effect of derivative instruments and related hedged items on the consolidated results of operations for
the 13-week period ending March 31, 2018, presented on a pretax basis, are as follows:

13-Week Period Ended Mar. 31, 2018

Location of (Gain) or Loss
Recognized (1)

Amount of
(Gain) or
Loss
Recognized
(In
thousands)

Fair Value Hedge Relationships:
Interest rate swap agreements (1) Interest expense $ 1,690

(1) The effect of derivative instruments and related hedged items that are recorded in other comprehensive income
(loss) are disclosed in Note 9, “Other Comprehensive Income.” 
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The location and effect of derivative instruments and related hedged items on the consolidated results of operations for
the 39-week period ending March 31, 2018, presented on a pretax basis, are as follows:

39-Week Period Ended Mar. 31, 2018

Location of (Gain) or Loss
Recognized (1)

Amount of
(Gain) or
Loss
Recognized
(In
thousands)

Fair Value Hedge Relationships:
Interest rate swap agreements (1) Interest expense $ 1,268

(1) The effect of derivative instruments and related hedged items that are recorded in other comprehensive income
(loss) are disclosed in Note 9, “Other Comprehensive Income.” 

7.  DEBT

Sysco has a commercial paper program allowing the company to issue short-term unsecured notes in an aggregate
amount not to exceed $2.0 billion. As of March 31, 2018, there was $758.0 million in commercial paper issuances
outstanding. Any outstanding amounts are classified within long-term debt, as the program is supported by a
long-term revolving credit facility. During the first 39 weeks of 2018, aggregate outstanding commercial paper
issuances and short-term bank borrowings ranged from $254.5 million to approximately $1.5 billion.

Senior notes offering

On March 19, 2018, Sysco issued senior notes (the Notes) totaling $1.0 billion. Details of the Notes are as follows:

Maturity Date

Par
Value
(in
millions)

Coupon
Rate

Pricing
(percentage
of par)

March 15, 2025 (the 2025 Notes) $ 500 3.55 % 99.480 %
March 15, 2048 (the 2048 Notes) 500 4.45 99.378

The Notes initially are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Sysco’s direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries
that guarantee Sysco’s other senior notes issued under the indenture governing the Notes or any of Sysco’s other
indebtedness. Interest on the Notes will be paid semi-annually on March 15 and September 15, beginning
September 15, 2018. At Sysco’s option, any or all of the Notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at any time prior
to maturity. If Sysco elects to redeem (i) the 2025 Notes before the date that is two months prior to the maturity date
or (ii) the 2048 Notes before the date that is 6 months prior to the maturity date, Sysco will pay an amount equal to the
greater of 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed or the sum of the present values of the remaining
scheduled payments of principal and interest on the Notes to be redeemed. If Sysco elects to redeem a series of Notes
on or after the applicable date described in the preceding sentence, Sysco will pay an amount equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed. Sysco will pay accrued and unpaid interest on the Notes redeemed to
the redemption date.

Sysco used $330 million of the net proceeds from the offering to fund its company-sponsored tax-qualified U.S.
pension plan (the Pension Plan). The Pension Plan’s funded status allows Sysco to set an investment strategy that more
closely aligns the duration of the Pension Plan’s assets with the duration of its liabilities. The strategy will result in an
asset portfolio that more closely matches the behavior of the liability, thereby reducing the volatility of the Pension
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Plan’s funded status.

Senior notes and debentures redemption related to the tender offer

Sysco used a portion of the net proceeds of the offering to fund the purchase, pursuant to a tender offer, of $230.5
million in combined aggregate principal amount of the following securities: its 7.160% debentures due 2027, its
6.500% debentures due 2028, its 5.375% senior notes due 2035 and its 6.625% senior notes due 2039. Holders of
securities received an early tender payment of $50 per $1,000 principal amount of securities. Holders of such
securities also received accrued and unpaid interest from, and including, the last interest payment date for their
tendered securities, but not including, the early settlement date, which was March 23, 2018. The tender
offer transaction was considered to be a debt extinguishment. As such, Sysco recognized a loss on extinguishment of
$53.1 million, which was recorded as a component of interest expense in the accompanying consolidated results of
operations. Of this loss, $51.2 million was attributable to the purchase premium paid to the lenders, $1.1 million was
attributable to the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the redeemed debentures and notes,
and $0.8 million was attributable to an accelerated charge on the debt discount related to these debentures and notes.
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Details of the debentures and senior notes purchased are as follows:

Maturity Date Par
Value

Coupon
Rate

Principal
amount
tendered

Remaining
Par Value
after
tender
offer

Cash
amount
paid
(including
interest)

(Dollars in millions)
April 15, 2027 $50 7.160% $ 5.7 $ 44.3 $ 7.4
August 1, 2028 225 6.500 61.9 163.1 77.3
September 21, 2035 500 5.375 115.9 384.1 134.3
March 17, 2039 250 6.625 47.0 203.0 63.7

The remaining net proceeds from the offering were used to repay outstanding borrowings under Sysco’s commercial
paper program and for other general corporate purposes.

In February 2018, Sysco repaid 5.25% senior notes totaling $500.0 million at maturity utilizing commercial paper
borrowings.

8.  EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
13-Week Period Ended 39-Week Period Ended
Mar. 31,
2018 Apr. 1, 2017 Mar. 31,

2018 Apr. 1, 2017

(In thousands, except
for share
and per share data)

(In thousands, except
for share
and per share data)

Numerator:
Net earnings $330,085 $ 238,278 $981,838 $ 837,332
Denominator:
Weighted-average basic shares outstanding 521,832,671539,291,561 523,468,845546,619,776
Dilutive effect of share-based awards 6,157,892 4,777,354 5,965,682 5,177,655
Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding 527,990,563544,068,915 529,434,527551,797,431
Basic earnings per share $0.63 $ 0.44 $1.88 $ 1.53
Diluted earnings per share $0.63 $ 0.44 $1.85 $ 1.52

The number of securities that were not included in the diluted earnings per share calculation because the effect would
have been anti-dilutive was approximately 25,000 and 3,065,000 for the third quarter of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017,
respectively. The number of securities that were not included in the diluted earnings per share calculation because the
effect would have been anti-dilutive was approximately 3,071,000 and 3,349,000 for the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018
and fiscal 2017, respectively.

9.  OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Comprehensive income is net earnings plus certain other items that are recorded directly to shareholders’ equity, such
as foreign currency translation adjustment, amounts related to cash flow hedging arrangements and certain amounts
related to pension and other postretirement plans.  Comprehensive income was $370.6 million and $315.4 million for
the third quarter of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively. Comprehensive income was $1.2 billion and $690.0
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million for the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.
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A summary of the components of other comprehensive income (loss) and the related tax effects for each of the periods
presented is as follows:

13-Week Period Ended Mar.
31, 2018

Location of
Expense (Income)
Recognized in
Net Earnings

Before
Tax
Amount

Tax
Net of
Tax
Amount

(In thousands)
Pension and other postretirement benefit plans:
Reclassification adjustments:
Amortization of prior service cost Operating expenses $2,409 $602 $1,807
Amortization of actuarial loss (gain), net Operating expenses 8,761 2,190 6,571
Total reclassification adjustments 11,170 2,792 8,378
Foreign currency translation:
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassification
adjustments:
Foreign currency translation adjustment N/A 72,010 — 72,010
Hedging instruments:
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassification
adjustments:
Change in cash flow hedges N/A (14,070 ) (3,597 ) (10,473 )
Change in net investment hedges N/A (40,820 ) (9,294 ) (31,526 )
Total other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassification adjustments (54,890 ) (12,891 ) (41,999 )

Reclassification adjustments:
Amortization of cash flow hedges Interest expense 2,873 718 2,155
Total other comprehensive income (loss) $31,163 $(9,381) $40,544

17

Edgar Filing: SYSCO CORP - Form 10-Q

33



13-Week Period Ended Apr.
1, 2017

Location of
Expense (Income)
Recognized in
Net Earnings

Before
Tax
Amount

Tax
Net of
Tax
Amount

(In thousands)
Pension and other postretirement benefit plans:
Reclassification adjustments:
Amortization of prior service cost Operating expenses $2,844 $1,092 $1,752
Amortization of actuarial loss (gain), net Operating expenses 8,944 3,931 5,013
Total reclassification adjustments 11,788 5,023 6,765
Foreign currency translation:
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
   reclassification adjustments:
Foreign currency translation adjustment N/A 89,799 — 89,799
Hedging instruments:
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassification
adjustments:
Change in cash flow hedges Interest expense (7,647 ) (2,936 ) (4,711 )
Change in net investment hedges N/A (12,775 ) 3,689 (16,464 )
Total other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassification adjustments (20,422 ) 753 (21,175 )

Reclassification adjustments:
Amortization of cash flow hedges Interest expense 2,873 1,103 1,770
Total other comprehensive income $84,038 $6,879 $77,159
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39-Week Period Ended Mar. 31,
2018

Location of
Expense (Income)
Recognized in
Net Earnings

Before
Tax
Amount

Tax Net of Tax
Amount

(In thousands)
Pension and other postretirement benefit plans:
Reclassification adjustments:
Amortization of prior service cost Operating expenses $7,227 $2,129 $5,098
Amortization of actuarial loss (gain), net Operating expenses 26,283 7,744 18,539
Total reclassification adjustments 33,510 9,873 23,637
Foreign currency translation:
Other comprehensive income (loss)
before reclassification adjustments:
Foreign currency translation adjustment N/A 212,594 — 212,594
Hedging instruments:
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassification adjustments:
Change in cash flow hedges N/A (7,720 ) (365 ) (7,355 )
Change in net investment hedge N/A (70,739 ) (23,036 ) (47,703 )
Total other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassification adjustments (78,459 ) (23,401 ) (55,058 )

Reclassification adjustments:
Amortization of cash flow hedges Interest expense 8,619 2,539 6,080
Total other comprehensive income (loss) $176,264 $(10,989) $187,253
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39-Week Period Ended Apr. 1,
2017

Location of
Expense (Income)
Recognized in
Net Earnings

Before Tax
Amount Tax Net of Tax

Amount

(In thousands)
Pension and other postretirement benefit plans:
Reclassification adjustments:
Amortization of prior service cost Operating expenses $8,532 $3,276 $5,256
Amortization of actuarial loss (gain), net Operating expenses 32,152 11,793 20,359
Total reclassification adjustments 40,684 15,069 25,615
Foreign currency translation:
Other comprehensive income (loss)
before reclassification adjustments:
Foreign currency translation adjustment N/A (189,884 ) — (189,884 )
Hedging instruments:
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassification adjustments:
Change in cash flow hedges Interest expense 4,092 1,249 2,843
Change in net investment hedge N/A 30,604 21,807 8,797
Total other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassification adjustments 34,696 23,056 11,640

Reclassification adjustments:
Amortization of cash flow hedges Interest expense 8,619 3,309 5,310
Total other comprehensive (loss) income $(105,885) $41,434 $(147,319)

The following tables provide a summary of the changes in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income for the
periods presented:

39-Week Period Ended Mar. 31, 2018
Pension
and Other
Postretirement
Benefit
Plans,
net of tax

Foreign
Currency
Translation

Hedging,
net of tax Total

(In thousands)
Balance as of Jul. 1, 2017 $(974,232) $(148,056 ) $(140,449) $(1,262,737)
Equity adjustment from foreign currency translation — 212,594 — 212,594
Amortization of cash flow hedges — — 6,080 6,080
Change in net investment hedges — — (47,703 ) (47,703 )
Change in cash flow hedge — — (7,355 ) (7,355 )
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost 5,098 — — 5,098
Amortization of unrecognized net actuarial losses 18,539 — — 18,539
Balance as of Mar. 31, 2018 $(950,595) $64,538 $(189,427) $(1,075,484)
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39-Week Period Ended Apr. 1, 2017
Pension and
Other
Postretirement
Benefit
Plans,
net of tax

Foreign
Currency
Translation

Hedging,
net of tax Total

(In thousands)
Balance as of Jul. 2, 2016 $(1,104,484) $(136,813 ) $(116,821) $(1,358,118)
Equity adjustment from foreign currency translation — (189,884 ) — (189,884 )
Amortization of cash flow hedges — — 5,310 5,310
Change in cash flow hedges — — 2,843 2,843
Change in net investment hedges — — 8,797 8,797
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost 5,256 — — 5,256
Amortization of unrecognized net actuarial losses 20,359 — — 20,359
Balance as of Apr. 1, 2017 $(1,078,869) $(326,697 ) $(99,871 ) $(1,505,437)

10.  SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Sysco provides compensation benefits to employees under several share-based payment arrangements, including
various long-term employee stock incentive plans and the 2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP).

Stock Incentive Plans

In the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, options to purchase 4,042,415 shares were granted to employees. The fair value of
each option award is estimated as of the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The weighted
average grant-date fair value per option granted during the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 was $7.08.

In the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, 872,325 performance share units (PSUs) were granted to employees.  Based on
the jurisdiction in which the employee resides, some of these PSUs were granted with forfeitable dividend
equivalents.  The fair value of each PSU award granted with a dividend equivalent is based on the company’s stock
price as of the date of grant.  For PSUs granted without dividend equivalents, the fair value was reduced by the present
value of expected dividends during the vesting period.  The weighted average grant-date fair value per performance
share unit granted during the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 was $51.11.  The PSUs will convert into shares of Sysco
common stock at the end of the performance period based on financial performance targets consisting of Sysco’s
earnings per share compound annual growth rate and adjusted return on invested capital.

In the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, 649,039 restricted stock units were granted to employees. The weighted average
grant-date fair value per restricted stock unit granted during the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 was $55.72.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Plan participants purchased 827,073 shares of common stock under the Sysco ESPP during the first 39 weeks of fiscal
2018.

The weighted average fair value per right of employee stock purchase rights issued pursuant to the ESPP was $8.20
during the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018.  The fair value of the stock purchase rights is estimated as the difference
between the stock price and the employee purchase price.
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All Share-Based Payment Arrangements

The total share-based compensation cost that has been recognized in results of operations was $72.7 million and $65.6
million for the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.

As of March 31, 2018, there was $142.0 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to share-based
compensation arrangements.  This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.98 years.
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11.  INCOME TAXES

Tax Cuts and Jobs Act

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted the Tax Act. The Tax Act makes broad and complex changes to
the U.S. tax code that will affect the company’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, including, but not limited to: (1)
reducing the U.S. federal corporate tax rate; (2) requiring a one-time transition tax on certain unrepatriated earnings of
foreign subsidiaries that is payable over 8 years; and (3) bonus depreciation that will allow for full expensing of
qualified property placed in service after September 27, 2017. The Tax Act also establishes new tax laws that could
affect Sysco in future fiscal years, including, but not limited to (1) a general elimination of U.S. federal income taxes
on dividends from foreign subsidiaries; (2) a new provision designed to tax global intangible low-taxed income
(GILTI); (3) creation of the base erosion anti-abuse tax (BEAT), a new minimum tax; (4) a new limitation on
deductible interest; (5) repeal of the domestic production activity deduction; and (6) increased limitations on the
deductibility of certain executive compensation.

The SEC staff issued SAB 118, which provides guidance on accounting for the tax effects of the Tax Act. See Note 2,
“Changes in Accounting” for a description of SAB 118.

Our accounting for the following elements of the Tax Act is incomplete. However, the company was able to make
reasonable estimates of certain effects and, therefore, recorded provisional adjustments of $35.8 million in the second
quarter financials, which is our initial estimate of the following impacts of the Tax Act:

Reduction of U.S. federal corporate tax rate: As a result of enactment of the Tax Act, the company revised its
estimated annual effective tax rate to reflect a change in the U.S. statutory tax rate. As noted above, the Tax Act
reduces the U.S. federal corporate tax rate to 21% in our fiscal year; however, Section 15 of the Internal Revenue
Code stipulates that the reduction in the corporate tax rate is applied to fiscal year taxpayers by computing a blended
tax rate, based on the applicable tax rates before and after the effective date of the change in the statutory rate. When
applied to Sysco’s fiscal year, this blended rate is estimated as 28% for fiscal 2018, a benefit of $64.7 million was
recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 2018 due to the retroactive application of this lower rate to the beginning of
the company’s fiscal year. In addition, the company has recorded a provisional tax benefit of $14.5 million attributable
to remeasuring Sysco’s accrued income taxes, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets.

Transition Tax: In the second quarter of fiscal 2018, the company recorded a discrete tax expense of $115.0 million
attributable to the provisional impact of the transition tax. The transition tax is payable in eight annual installments
beginning in our first quarter of fiscal 2019. As a result of the 8 year payment period, approximately $95.0 million
attributable to the portion of the provisional transition tax not due within 12 months is located within other long-term
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2018.

Our accounting for the following elements of the Tax Act is incomplete, and we were not able to make reasonable
estimates of the effects. Therefore, no provisional adjustments were recorded.

GILTI: The Tax Act creates a new requirement that certain income earned by controlled foreign corporations (CFCs)
must be included currently in the gross income of the CFCs’ U.S. shareholder. GILTI is the excess of the shareholder’s
“net CFC tested income” over the net deemed tangible income return, which is currently defined as the excess of (1) 10
percent of the aggregate of the U.S. shareholder’s pro rata share of the qualified business asset investment of each CFC
with respect to which it is a U.S. shareholder over (2) the amount of certain interest expense taken into account in the
determination of net CFC-tested income. Sysco will not be subject to the GILTI provisions until fiscal 2019.
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Because of the complexity of the new GILTI tax rules, the company is continuing to evaluate this provision of the Tax
Act and the application of ASC 740. Under U.S. GAAP, the company is allowed to make an accounting policy choice
of either (1) treating taxes due on future U.S. inclusions in taxable income related to GILTI as a current-period
expense when incurred (the “period cost method”) or (2) factoring such amounts into a company’s measurement of its
deferred taxes (the “deferred method”). Sysco’s selection of an accounting policy with respect to the new GILTI tax rules
will depend, in part, on analyzing our global income to determine whether the company expects to have future U.S.
inclusions in taxable income related to GILTI and, if so, what the impact is expected to be. Because whether Sysco
expects to have future U.S. inclusions in taxable income related to GILTI depends not only on our current structure
and estimated future results of global operations but also the company’s intent and ability to modify its structure and/or
its business, Sysco is not yet able to reasonably estimate the effect of this provision of the Tax Act. Therefore, the
company has not made any adjustments related to potential GILTI tax in its financial statements and has not made a
policy decision regarding whether to record deferred taxes on GILTI.

22

Edgar Filing: SYSCO CORP - Form 10-Q

40



Executive Compensation Limitation: The Tax Act expands the definition under Section 162(m) of the Internal
Revenue Code (“Section 162(m)”) of covered employee and provides that, for specified employees, status as a covered
employee continues for all subsequent tax years, including years after the death of the individual, and, among other
modifications, repeals the exception for performance-based compensation and commissions from the $1 million
deduction limitation. In addition, the Tax Act provides for transitional guidance that will allow certain payments made
under written and binding agreements entered into prior to November 2, 2017 to be treated as if they were made under
the provisions of Section 162(m) that were in effect prior to enactment of the Tax Act. The company is in the process
of gathering information on existing compensation arrangements for covered employees as well as assessing the
impact of transitional guidance on the realizability of existing deferred tax assets related to compensation
arrangements of its covered employees. As a result, the company has not made any adjustments related to impacts of
the new executive compensation limitations in its financial statements.

Indefinite Reinvestment Assertion: The company is in the process of assessing the impact of the Tax Act on its
indefinite reinvestment assertion and the company’s plans to determine any associated impact on the financial
statements. Therefore, no adjustments have been made in its financial statements with respect to its indefinite
reinvestment assertion.

Effective Tax Rate

Sysco’s effective tax rate is reflective of the jurisdictions where the company has operations. The effective tax rates for
the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 were 9.54% and 27.97%, respectively. The effective tax rate for the
first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 was negatively impacted by the transition tax described above resulting from the Tax
Act. This effective tax rate was impacted favorably by a net tax benefit attributable to the change in the federal
statutory tax rate as a result of the Tax Act, along with the tax benefit of $44.4 million attributable to a contribution to
the Pension Plan, and excess tax benefits of equity-based compensation that totaled $14.9 million for the third quarter
and $45.7 million for the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018. Sysco began recognizing these excess tax benefits within
income tax expense in the first quarter of fiscal 2018 due to the adoption of ASU 2016-09. The effective tax rate for
the third quarter of fiscal 2017 of 33.77% and the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017 of 34.72% was favorably impacted by
an increase in earnings in foreign jurisdictions due to the acquisition of the Brakes Group.

Uncertain Tax Positions

As of March 31, 2018, the gross amount of unrecognized tax benefit and related accrued interest was $16.2 million
and $12.0 million, respectively.  It is reasonably possible that the amount of the unrecognized tax benefit with respect
to certain of the company’s unrecognized tax positions will increase or decrease in the next twelve months, either
because Sysco prevails on positions challenged upon audit or because the company agrees to the disallowance.  Items
that may cause changes to unrecognized tax benefits primarily include the consideration of various filing requirements
in numerous states and the allocation of income and expense between tax jurisdictions.  At this time, an estimate of
the range of the reasonably possible change cannot be made.

Other

The determination of the company’s provision for income taxes requires judgment, the use of estimates and the
interpretation and application of complex tax laws.  The company’s provision for income taxes reflects a combination
of income earned and taxed in the various U.S. federal and state, as well as foreign, jurisdictions.  Jurisdictional tax
law changes, increases or decreases in permanent differences between book and tax items, accruals or adjustments of
accruals for unrecognized tax benefits or valuation allowances, and the company’s change in the mix of earnings from
these taxing jurisdictions all affect the overall effective tax rate.
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12.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal Proceedings

Sysco is engaged in various legal proceedings that have arisen but have not been fully adjudicated.  The likelihood of
loss for these legal proceedings, based on definitions within contingency accounting literature, ranges from remote to
reasonably possible to probable.  When probable and reasonably estimable, the losses have been accrued.  Based on
estimates of the range of potential losses associated with these matters, management does not believe the ultimate
resolution of these proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect upon the
consolidated financial position or results of operations of the company.  However, the final results of legal
proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, and if the company failed to prevail in one or more of these legal
matters, and the associated realized losses were to exceed the company’s current estimates of the range of potential
losses, the company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations could be materially adversely affected in
future periods.
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13.  BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

The company has aggregated certain of its operating segments into three reportable segments. “Other” financial
information is attributable to the company’s other operating segments that do not meet the quantitative disclosure
thresholds.

•
U.S. Foodservice Operations - primarily includes U.S. Broadline operations, which distribute a full line of food
products including custom-cut meat, seafood, specialty produce, specialty imports and a wide variety of non-food
products;

•

International Foodservice Operations - includes operations in the Americas and Europe, which distribute a full line of
food products and a wide variety of non-food products. The Americas primarily consists of operations in Canada,
Bahamas, Mexico, Costa Rica and Panama, as well as our operations that distribute to international customers. Our
European operations primarily consists of operations in the United Kingdom, France, Ireland and Sweden;
•SYGMA - our U.S. customized distribution subsidiary; and

•Other - primarily our hotel supply operations and Sysco Labs, which includes our suite of technology solutions that
help support the business needs of our customers and provide support for some of our business technology needs.

The accounting policies for the segments are the same as those disclosed by Sysco for its consolidated financial
statements. Management evaluates the performance of each of our operating segments based on its respective
operating income results. Corporate expenses generally include all expenses of the corporate office and Sysco’s shared
services center.  These also include all share-based compensation costs.

The following tables set forth certain financial information for Sysco’s business segments.

13-Week Period Ended 39-Week Period Ended
Mar. 31,
2018 Apr. 1, 2017 Mar. 31,

2018 Apr. 1, 2017

Sales: (In thousands) (In thousands)
U.S. Foodservice Operations $9,704,495 $9,233,048 $29,234,662 $27,799,728
International Foodservice Operations 2,799,251 2,528,485 8,571,549 7,882,796
SYGMA 1,605,753 1,535,550 4,879,569 4,560,424
Other 240,005 227,089 725,638 707,146
Total $14,349,504 $13,524,172 $43,411,418 $40,950,094

13-Week Period Ended 39-Week Period Ended
Mar. 31,
2018 Apr. 1, 2017 Mar. 31,

2018 Apr. 1, 2017

Operating income: (In thousands) (In thousands)
U.S. Foodservice Operations $695,464 $689,210 $2,182,708 $2,115,762
International Foodservice Operations 19,319 16,076 148,403 180,324
SYGMA 4,477 7,344 12,675 15,407
Other 5,945 6,078 13,181 17,873
Total segments 725,205 718,708 2,356,967 2,329,366
Corporate (239,272 ) (282,746 ) (715,660 ) (834,154 )
Total operating income 485,933 435,962 1,641,307 1,495,212
Interest expense 136,145 81,004 303,015 226,858
Other expense (income), net (15,096 ) (4,815 ) (24,776 ) (14,351 )
Earnings before income taxes $364,884 $359,773 $1,363,068 $1,282,705
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Mar. 31,
2018 Jul. 1, 2017 Apr. 1, 2017

Assets: (In thousands)
U.S. Foodservice Operations $7,171,671 $6,675,543 $7,001,351
International Foodservice Operations 6,772,834 6,433,815 6,003,449
SYGMA 674,800 625,653 600,823
Other 772,351 448,885 443,813
Total segments 15,391,656 14,183,896 14,049,436
Corporate 3,237,486 3,572,759 3,871,464
Total $18,629,142 $17,756,655 $17,920,900

14.  SUPPLEMENTAL GUARANTOR INFORMATION - SUBSIDIARY GUARANTEES

On January 19, 2011, the wholly owned U.S. Broadline subsidiaries of Sysco Corporation entered into full and
unconditional guarantees of all outstanding senior notes and debentures of Sysco Corporation.  All subsequent
issuances of senior notes and debentures have also been guaranteed by these subsidiaries. As of March 31, 2018,
Sysco had a total of $8.3 billion in senior notes and debentures that was covered by these guarantees.

All subsidiary guarantors are 100% owned by the parent company, all guarantees are full and unconditional and all
guarantees are joint and several, except that the guarantee of any subsidiary guarantor with respect to a series of senior
notes or debentures may be released under certain customary circumstances.  If we exercise our defeasance option
with respect to the senior notes or debentures of any series, then any subsidiary guarantor effectively will be released
with respect to that series.  Further, each subsidiary guarantee will remain in full force and effect until the earliest to
occur of the date, if any, on which (1) the applicable subsidiary guarantor shall consolidate with or merge into Sysco
Corporation or any successor of Sysco Corporation or (2) Sysco Corporation or any successor of Sysco Corporation
consolidates with or merges into the applicable subsidiary guarantor.

In conjunction with the preparation of our September 30, 2017 condensed consolidating financial statements, the
company identified certain wholly owned U.S. Broadline subsidiaries that are guarantors of the outstanding senior
notes and debentures of Sysco Corporation that were presented within Other Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries during fiscal
2017. The fiscal 2017 Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet and Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash
Flows included herein have been revised to present such U.S. Broadline subsidiaries as guarantor subsidiaries.   The
company assessed the materiality of the incorrect guarantor disclosures and concluded that the misstatement was not
material to the financial statements as a whole, but has provided revised information below for the sake of consistency
with the current period disclosures.

The following condensed consolidating financial statements present separately the financial position, comprehensive
income and cash flows of the parent issuer (Sysco Corporation), the guarantors (certain of the company’s U.S.
Broadline subsidiaries), and all other non-guarantor subsidiaries of Sysco (Other Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries) on a
combined basis with eliminating entries.
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
Mar. 31, 2018

Sysco
Certain U.S.
Broadline
Subsidiaries

Other
Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations Consolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Current assets $273,948 $ 4,093,321 $ 4,348,602 $— $8,715,871
Intercompany receivables 3,344,142 590,025 — (3,934,167 ) —
Investment in subsidiaries 7,771,987 — — (7,771,987 ) —
Plant and equipment, net 263,472 2,047,608 2,081,078 — 4,392,158
Other assets 891,242 553,270 4,761,664 (685,063 ) 5,521,113
Total assets $12,544,791 $ 7,284,224 $ 11,191,344 $(12,391,217) $18,629,142
Current liabilities $623,141 $ 3,704,927 $ 1,718,131 $— $6,046,199
Intercompany payables — — 3,934,167 (3,934,167 ) —
Long-term debt 8,761,475 6,429 67,252 — 8,835,156
Other liabilities 808,962 531,480 705,286 (685,063 ) 1,360,665
Noncontrolling interest — — 35,909 — 35,909
Shareholders’ equity 2,351,213 3,041,388 4,730,599 (7,771,987 ) 2,351,213
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity$12,544,791 $ 7,284,224 $ 11,191,344 $(12,391,217) $18,629,142

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
Jul. 1, 2017

Sysco
Certain U.S.
Broadline
Subsidiaries

Other
Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations Consolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Current assets $177,495 $ 3,786,055 $ 4,069,888 $— $8,033,438
Intercompany receivables 4,444,035 — — (4,444,035 ) —
Investment in subsidiaries 6,451,994 — — (6,451,994 ) —
Plant and equipment, net 258,527 2,039,761 2,079,014 — 4,377,302
Other assets 151,743 516,126 4,678,046 — 5,345,915
Total assets $11,483,794 $ 6,341,942 $ 10,826,948 $(10,896,029) $17,756,655
Current liabilities $650,899 $ 3,521,661 $ 1,923,326 $— $6,095,886
Intercompany payables — 366,802 4,077,233 (4,444,035 ) —
Long-term debt 7,588,041 7,776 65,060 — 7,660,877
Other liabilities 863,338 103,784 568,415 — 1,535,537
Noncontrolling interest — — 82,839 — 82,839
Shareholders’ equity 2,381,516 2,341,919 4,110,075 (6,451,994 ) 2,381,516
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity$11,483,794 $ 6,341,942 $ 10,826,948 $(10,896,029) $17,756,655
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
Apr. 1, 2017

Sysco
Certain U.S.
Broadline
Subsidiaries

Other
Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations Consolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Current assets $171,879 $ 4,289,786 $ 3,863,896 $— $8,325,561
Intercompany receivables 2,099,954 338,394 — (2,438,348 ) —
Investment in subsidiaries 8,694,281 — — (8,694,281 ) —
Plant and equipment, net 323,763 2,001,203 1,946,741 — 4,271,707
Other assets 398,433 570,205 4,354,994 — 5,323,632
Total assets $11,688,310 $ 7,199,588 $ 10,165,631 $(11,132,629) $17,920,900
Current liabilities $308,591 $ 2,488,727 $ 2,932,492 $— $5,729,810
Intercompany payables — — 2,438,348 (2,438,348 ) —
Long-term debt 7,943,640 6,407 76,570 — 8,026,617
Other liabilities 1,105,551 144,031 504,119 — 1,753,701
Noncontrolling interest — — 80,244 — 80,244
Shareholders’ equity 2,330,528 4,560,423 4,133,858 (8,694,281 ) 2,330,528
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity$11,688,310 $ 7,199,588 $ 10,165,631 $(11,132,629) $17,920,900

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the 13-Week Period Ended Mar. 31, 2018

Sysco
Certain U.S.
Broadline
Subsidiaries

Other
Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations Consolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Sales $— $8,762,013 $ 6,078,876 $ (491,385 ) $14,349,504
Cost of sales — 7,105,014 5,060,247 (491,385 ) 11,673,876
Gross profit — 1,656,999 1,018,629 — 2,675,628
Operating expenses 187,360 1,004,057 998,278 — 2,189,695
Operating income (loss) (187,360 ) 652,942 20,351 — 485,933
Interest expense (income) (1) 160,333 (28,742 ) 4,554 — 136,145
Other expense (income), net (3,652 ) (593 ) (10,851 ) — (15,096 )
Earnings (losses) before income taxes (344,041 ) 682,277 26,648 — 364,884
Income tax (benefit) provision (117,286 ) 151,090 995 — 34,799
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 556,840 — — (556,840 ) —
Net earnings 330,085 531,187 25,653 (556,840 ) 330,085
Other comprehensive income (loss) 40,544 — 72,010 (72,010 ) 40,544
Comprehensive income $370,629 $531,187 $ 97,663 $ (628,850 ) $370,629

(1)

Interest expense (income) includes $28.7 million of intercompany interest income, net, for certain of the U.S.
Broadline subsidiaries, which is intercompany interest expense for Sysco Corporation for the third quarter ended
March 31, 2018. There is an immaterial amount of intercompany interest expense related to Sysco Corporation for
the Other Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries.
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the 13-Week Period Ended Apr. 1, 2017

Sysco
Certain U.S.
Broadline
Subsidiaries

Other
Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations Consolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Sales $— $8,412,869 $ 6,070,555 $ (959,252 ) $13,524,172
Cost of sales — 6,800,302 5,148,987 (959,252 ) 10,990,037
Gross profit — 1,612,567 921,568 — 2,534,135
Operating expenses 255,394 957,521 885,258 — 2,098,173
Operating income (loss) (255,394 ) 655,046 36,310 — 435,962
Interest expense (income) (1) 112,779 (36,434 ) 4,659 — 81,004
Other expense (income), net (3,484 ) (930 ) (401 ) — (4,815 )
Earnings (losses) before income taxes (364,689 ) 692,410 32,052 — 359,773
Income tax (benefit) provision (173,169 ) 297,542 (2,878 ) — 121,495
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 429,798 — — (429,798 ) —
Net earnings 238,278 394,868 34,930 (429,798 ) 238,278
Other comprehensive income (loss) 77,159 — 89,799 (89,799 ) 77,159
Comprehensive income $315,437 $394,868 $ 124,729 $ (519,597 ) $315,437

(1)

Interest expense (income) includes $36.4 million of intercompany interest income, net, for certain of the U.S.
Broadline subsidiaries, which is intercompany interest expense for Sysco Corporation for the third quarter ended
April 1, 2017. There is an immaterial amount of intercompany interest expense related to Sysco Corporation for the
Other Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries.

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the 39-Week Period Ended Mar. 31, 2018

Sysco
Certain U.S.
Broadline
Subsidiaries

Other
Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations Consolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Sales $— $26,537,840 $ 18,368,427 $(1,494,849) $43,411,418
Cost of sales — 21,482,727 15,254,858 (1,494,849 ) 35,242,736
Gross profit — 5,055,113 3,113,569 — 8,168,682
Operating expenses 584,024 3,006,064 2,937,287 — 6,527,375
Operating income (loss) (584,024 ) 2,049,049 176,282 — 1,641,307
Interest expense (income) (1) 368,099 (80,048 ) 14,964 — 303,015
Other expense (income), net (12,297 ) (2,152 ) (10,327 ) — (24,776 )
Earnings (losses) before income taxes (939,826 ) 2,131,249 171,645 — 1,363,068
Income tax (benefit) provision (333,562 ) 663,476 51,316 — 381,230
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 1,588,102 — — (1,588,102 ) —
Net earnings 981,838 1,467,773 120,329 (1,588,102 ) 981,838
Other comprehensive income (loss) 187,253 — 212,594 (212,594 ) 187,253
Comprehensive income $1,169,091 $1,467,773 $ 332,923 $(1,800,696) $1,169,091

(1)
Interest expense (income) includes $80.0 million of intercompany interest income, net, for certain of the U.S.
Broadline subsidiaries, which is intercompany interest expense for Sysco Corporation. There is an immaterial
amount of intercompany interest expense related to Sysco Corporation for the Other Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries.
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the 52-Week Period Ended Jul. 1, 2017

Sysco
Certain U.S.
Broadline
Subsidiaries

Other
Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations Consolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Sales $— $34,325,884 $ 22,862,131 $(1,816,876) $55,371,139
Cost of sales — 27,690,469 18,940,039 (1,816,876 ) 44,813,632
Gross profit — 6,635,415 3,922,092 — 10,557,507
Operating expenses 931,498 3,907,829 3,665,009 — 8,504,336
Operating income (loss) (931,498 ) 2,727,586 257,083 — 2,053,171
Interest expense (income) (1) 405,030 (122,012 ) 19,860 — 302,878
Other expense (income), net (23,740 ) (1,116 ) 8,919 — (15,937 )
Earnings (losses) before income taxes (1,312,788 ) 2,850,714 228,304 — 1,766,230
Income tax (benefit) provision (463,598 ) 1,006,703 80,622 — 623,727
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 1,991,693 — — (1,991,693 ) —
Net earnings 1,142,503 1,844,011 147,682 (1,991,693 ) 1,142,503
Other comprehensive income (loss) 95,381 — (9,317 ) 9,317 95,381
Comprehensive income $1,237,884 $1,844,011 $ 138,365 $(1,982,376) $1,237,884

(1)
Interest expense (income) includes $135.9 million of intercompany interest income, net, for certain of the U.S.
Broadline subsidiaries, which is intercompany interest expense for Sysco Corporation. There is an immaterial
amount of intercompany interest expense related to Sysco Corporation for the Other Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries.

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the 39-Week Period Ended Apr. 1, 2017

Sysco
Certain U.S.
Broadline
Subsidiaries

Other
Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations Consolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Sales $— $25,387,148 $ 18,945,045 $(3,382,099) $40,950,094
Cost of sales — 20,489,657 16,044,619 (3,382,099 ) 33,152,177
Gross profit — 4,897,491 2,900,426 — 7,797,917
Operating expenses 712,590 2,896,789 2,693,326 — 6,302,705
Operating income (loss) (712,590 ) 2,000,702 207,100 — 1,495,212
Interest expense (income) (1) 303,885 (91,254 ) 14,227 — 226,858
Other expense (income), net (23,670 ) (1,900 ) 11,219 — (14,351 )
Earnings (losses) before income taxes (992,805 ) 2,093,856 181,654 — 1,282,705
Income tax (benefit) provision (393,588 ) 789,341 49,620 — 445,373
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 1,436,549 — — (1,436,549 ) —
Net earnings 837,332 1,304,515 132,034 (1,436,549 ) 837,332
Other comprehensive income (loss) (147,319 ) — (189,884 ) 189,884 (147,319 )
Comprehensive income $690,013 $1,304,515 $ (57,850 ) $(1,246,665) $690,013

(1)
Interest expense (income) includes $91.3 million of intercompany interest income, net, for certain of the U.S.
Broadline subsidiaries, which is intercompany interest expense for Sysco Corporation. There is an immaterial
amount of intercompany interest expense related to Sysco Corporation for the Other Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries.
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Condensed Consolidating Cash Flows
For the 39-Week Period Ended Mar. 31, 2018

Sysco

Certain
U.S.
 Broadline
Subsidiaries

Other
Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

EliminationsConsolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Cash flows provided by (used for):
Operating activities $336,774 $ 328,096 $ 459,317 $ — $1,124,187
Investing activities (122,204 ) (235,164 ) (349,564 ) 147,622 (559,310 )
Financing activities (227,327 ) (5,609 ) (31,441 ) (147,622) (411,999 )
Effect of exchange rates on cash — — 24,745 — 24,745
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash (12,757 ) 87,323 103,057 — 177,623

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the
beginning of period 111,576 18,788 739,138 — 869,502

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the end
of period $98,819 $ 106,111 $ 842,195 $ — $1,047,125

Condensed Consolidating Cash Flows
For the 52-Week Period Ended Jul. 1, 2017

Sysco
Certain U.S.
 Broadline
Subsidiaries

Other
Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations
(1)

Consolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Cash flows provided by (used for):
Operating activities $1,535,775 $3,023,400 $ 658,229 $(2,978,000) $2,239,404
Investing activities (3,274,566 ) (261,330 ) (175,565 ) 127,000 (3,584,461 )
Financing activities (1,526,045 ) (2,777,661 ) (229,931 ) 2,851,000 (1,682,637 )
Effect of exchange rates on cash — — (22,104 ) — (22,104 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents (3,264,836 ) (15,591 ) 230,629 — (3,049,798 )

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
period 3,376,412 34,379 508,509 — 3,919,300

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period $111,576 $18,788 $ 739,138 $— $869,502

(1) Represents primarily inter-company dividends paid from the subsidiaries to the parent, Sysco Corporation.
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Condensed Consolidating Cash Flows
For the 39-Week Period Ended Apr. 1, 2017

Sysco
Certain U.S.
 Broadline
Subsidiaries

Other
Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Consolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Cash flows provided by (used for):
Operating activities $523,779 $ 239,521 $ 319,124 $1,082,424
Investing activities (3,144,600) (142,438 ) (18,108 ) (3,305,146 )
Financing activities (643,625 ) (50,962 ) (70,025 ) (764,612 )
Effect of exchange rates on cash — — (76,833 ) (76,833 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,264,446) 46,121 154,158 (3,064,167 )
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 3,376,412 34,379 508,509 3,919,300
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period $111,966 $ 80,500 $ 662,667 $855,133
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements as of July 1, 2017, and the
fiscal year then ended, and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,
both contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 1, 2017 (our 2017 Form 10-K), as
well as the consolidated financial statements (unaudited) and notes to the consolidated financial statements
(unaudited) contained in this report.

Sysco’s results of operations for fiscal 2018 and 2017 are impacted by restructuring costs consisting of: (1) expenses
associated with our revised business technology strategy announced in fiscal 2016, as a result of which we incurred
costs to convert to a modernized version of our established platform as opposed to completing the implementation of
an ERP; (2) professional fees related to our three-year strategic plan; (3) restructuring expenses within our Brakes
Group operations; and (4) severance charges related to restructuring. In addition, fiscal 2018 results of operations are
impacted by business technology transformation initiative costs, facility closure charges, multiemployer pension
(MEPP) withdrawal charges and debt extinguishment charges. Our results of operations for fiscal 2018 and 2017 are
also impacted by the following acquisition-related items: (1) intangible amortization expense and (2) integration costs.
All acquisition-related costs in fiscal 2018 and 2017 that have been excluded relate to the fiscal 2017 acquisition of
Cucina Lux Investments Limited (the Brakes Acquisition), discussed in Note 4, “Acquisitions.”  The Brakes acquisition
also resulted in non-recurring tax expense in fiscal 2017, primarily from non-deductible transaction costs. Sysco’s
results of operations for fiscal 2018 are also impacted by reform measures from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017
(the Tax Act) enacted on December 22, 2017. The impact for fiscal 2018 includes: (1) a provisional estimate of a
one-time transition tax on certain unrepatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries; (2) a net benefit from remeasuring
Sysco’s accrued income taxes, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets due to the changes in tax rates; and (3) a
benefit from contributions made to fund Sysco’s tax-qualified United States (U.S.) pension plan (the Pension Plan).
These fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 items are collectively referred to as “Certain Items.”

More information on the rationale for the use of these items and reconciliations to generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) numbers can be found under “Non-GAAP Reconciliations.”

Highlights and Trends

Highlights

Our third quarter performance reflects solid results, including strong gross profit dollar growth leading to operating
income growth, despite adverse weather in multiple geographies, continued investments that we are making across our
business and some operational challenges. We have continued to make strides in the execution of our strategic
priorities and focusing on satisfying the needs of our customers. Our net earnings and earnings per share, both
including and excluding Certain Items, increased for the third quarter of fiscal 2018, as compared to the corresponding
period in fiscal 2017, primarily due to operating income improvement and a reduced effective tax rate.
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Comparisons of results from the third quarter of fiscal 2018 to the third quarter of fiscal 2017:

•Sales:

◦ increased 6.1%, or $825.3 million, to $14.3
billion;

•Operating income:

◦ increased 11.5%, or $50.0 million, to $485.9
million;

◦adjusted operating income increased 7.1%, or $35.5 million, to $535.8 million;
•Net earnings:

◦ increased 38.5%, or $91.8 million, to $330.1
million;

◦adjusted net earnings increased 28.9%, or $79.7 million, to $355.6 million;

• Basic earnings per
share:

◦increased 43.2%, or $0.19, to $0.63 per share;

• Diluted earnings per
share:

◦increased 43.2%, or $0.19, to $0.63 per share; and
◦adjusted diluted earnings per share increased 31.4%, or $0.16, to $0.67 per share.

Comparisons of results from the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 to the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017:
•Sales:

◦ increased 6.0%, or $2.5 billion, to $43.4
billion;

•Operating income:

◦ increased 9.8%, or $146.1 million, to $1.6
billion;

◦adjusted operating income increased 5.5%, or $92.1 million, to $1.8 billion;
•Net earnings:
◦increased 17.3%, or $144.5 million, to $981.8 million; 
◦adjusted net earnings increased 19.7%, or $191.2 million, to $1.2 billion;

• Basic earnings per
share:

◦increased 22.9%, or $0.35, to $1.88 per share;

• Diluted earnings per
share:

◦increased 21.7%, or 0.33, to $1.85 per share; and
◦adjusted diluted earnings per share increased 24.4%, or $0.43, to $2.19 per share.

See “Non-GAAP Reconciliations” for an explanation of the non-GAAP financial measures listed above.

Trends

The macroeconomic environment continued to be generally favorable in the U.S., leading to increased spend for retail
and food services sectors and improved conditions for foodservice operators, as sales at restaurants continue to rise,
offsetting somewhat lower traffic counts. We also see continued growth with local customers, as they increase their
reach through innovative concepts and additional delivery methods. Economic growth in the international markets in
which we operate was mostly positive, including modest growth in the foodservice sector.
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Our gross profit growth during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 was driven by positive case growth and effective
ongoing management of product cost inflation. While we continue to face some challenges from in-bound freight
costs, the trend has been improving and was less of an impact in the third quarter. Our U.S. Broadline operations
experienced product cost inflation at a rate of 2.6% for the third quarter of fiscal 2018, which contributed to increased
sales and gross profits. The pace of inflation has been higher in meat, dairy and produce categories. The increase in
our operating expenses was driven by ongoing strategic investments in the business and a few operational challenges.
Some of those investments include the supply chain transformation work occurring in Europe, the investment in
marketing associates in the U.S. and the continued investment in technology that we believe will translate to a more
enriching experience for our customers.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2018, the U.S. government enacted the Tax Act, comprehensive tax legislation that
decreased the federal corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%. For fiscal 2018, Sysco has a 28% rate, rather than 21%,
because the law was enacted during the midpoint of the company’s fiscal year, requiring us to use a blended average
rate. The company’s U.S. federal statutory tax rate for fiscal 2019 and beyond will be 21%, and we expect our effective
tax rate to be in the range of 25% and 26%. We anticipate our fiscal 2018 effective tax rate to be slightly lower than
this range as we continue to work through initiatives. As discussed in Note 11, “Income Taxes,” we have recorded
provisional estimates for some components of the Tax Act and will refine estimates and determine applicability for
other components in future periods.
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In the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, we prospectively adopted a new accounting standard related to improvements in
share-based payment accounting. As discussed in Note 2, “Changes in Accounting,” excess tax benefits, or detriments,
of equity-based compensation are now recorded within income tax expense in the consolidated results of operations.
In the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, we recognized tax benefits that totaled $45.7 million or $0.09 on a per share basis,
primarily from stock option exercises that occurred during this period. These tax benefits are difficult to predict and
depend on factors such as our stock price and option exercise activity.

We have completed three new acquisitions thus far in fiscal 2018, including two within U.S. Foodservice Operations
and one within International Foodservice Operations. Within U.S. Foodservice Operations, in the third quarter of
fiscal 2018, we acquired Doerle Food Services (Doerle), a leading Louisiana broadline distributor with approximately
$250 million in annual foodservice distribution sales. Acquiring Doerle provides Sysco with a distributor that services
parts of a six-state area, including Oklahoma, Texas, Arkansas, Louisiana, Mississippi, and Alabama. In the second
quarter of fiscal 2018, we acquired Kerr Pacific Corporation d/b/a HFM Foodservice (HFM), a Hawaii-based
broadline distributor with approximately $290 million in annual sales. HFM has been providing quality service to
Hawaii and Guam for over 50 years. Acquiring HFM provided Sysco with direct access to the growing Hawaiian
market and was in clear alignment with our strategy for disciplined, profitable growth of the business.

Within our International Foodservice Operations, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, we acquired Kent Frozen Foods
(KFF), a United Kingdom (U.K.)-based distributor that distributes chilled, frozen, and ambient food products to the
catering industry in the U.K. Acquiring KFF provided Sysco Europe with an enhanced presence in the frozen foods
distribution market. In addition to the three acquisitions noted above, in the second quarter of fiscal 2018, we
purchased the remaining 50% interest in our joint venture in Costa Rica. Sysco initially acquired a 50% interest in the
foodservice company in fiscal 2015.

Strategy

Fiscal 2018 is the final year in a three-year plan that was established in fiscal 2016. This initial three-year plan
excludes the results of the Brakes Group. In the second quarter of fiscal 2018, we outlined our new three-year plan,
including our financial objectives through fiscal 2020, which will enable us to continue transforming our business,
while improving the customer experience of doing business with Sysco. Our new three-year plan includes the results
of the Brakes Group. Our key strategic priorities are: enriching the customer experience, delivering operational
excellence, optimizing the business and activating the power of our people. These strategies will help us achieve our
new target financial objectives, including (1) reaching $650 million to $700 million of adjusted operating income
growth as compared to fiscal 2017, (2) growing earnings per share faster than operating income, and (3) achieving
16% in adjusted return on invested capital for existing businesses. We do not expect our improvements to occur
evenly on a quarterly basis. In accomplishing these goals, we believe by fiscal 2020 we could also achieve (1) sales
growth of 4% to 4.5%, (2) adjusted operating income growth of 9%, (3) adjusted net earnings improvement of 9%,
and (4) adjusted diluted earnings per share results in the range of $3.40 to $3.50 in fiscal 2020, representing an
increase of approximately 12%. The key levers to achieve these targets include an emphasis on accelerating locally
managed customer case growth and driving leverage between gross profit growth and expense growth. Our operating
income goal was established on an adjusted basis given Certain Item charges that were applicable in fiscal 2018,
which primarily were due to restructuring and Brakes-related acquisitions costs. The objectives targeted in our new
three-year plan are subject to change, as we continue to assess the impact of the recently enacted U.S. tax reform.

See “Non-GAAP Reconciliations” for an explanation of these non-GAAP financial measures.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the components of our consolidated results of operations expressed as a percentage of
sales for the periods indicated:

13-Week Period
Ended

39-Week Period
Ended

Mar. 31,
2018

Apr. 1,
2017

Mar. 31,
2018

Apr. 1,
2017

Sales 100.0 % 100.0% 100.0 % 100.0%
Cost of sales 81.4 81.3 81.2 81.0
Gross profit 18.6 18.7 18.8 19.0
Operating expenses 15.3 15.5 15.0 15.4
Operating income 3.3 3.2 3.8 3.6
Interest expense 0.9 0.6 0.7 0.6
Other expense (income), net (0.1 ) — (0.1 ) —
Earnings before income taxes 2.5 2.6 3.2 3.0
Income taxes 0.2 0.9 0.9 1.1
Net earnings 2.3  % 1.7 % 2.3  % 1.9 %

The following table sets forth the change in the components of our consolidated results of operations expressed as a
percentage increase or decrease over the comparable period in the prior year:

13-Week
Period
Ended

39-Week
Period
Ended

Sales 6.1  % 6.0  %
Cost of sales 6.2 6.3
Gross profit 5.6 4.8
Operating expenses 4.4 3.6
Operating income 11.5 9.8
Interest expense 68.1 33.6
Other expense (income), net (1) (2) 213.5 72.6
Earnings before income taxes 1.4 6.3
Income taxes (71.4 ) (14.4 )
Net earnings 38.5  % 17.3  %
Basic earnings per share 43.2  % 22.9  %
Diluted earnings per share 43.2 21.7
Average shares outstanding (3.2 ) (4.2 )
Diluted shares outstanding (3.0 ) (4.1 )

(1) Other expense (income), net was income of $15.1 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2018 and income of $4.8
million in the third quarter of fiscal 2017.

(2) Other expense (income), net was income of $24.8 million in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 and income of $14.4
million in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017.
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The following represents our results by reportable segments:
13-Week Period Ended Mar. 31, 2018
U.S.
Foodservice
Operations

International
Foodservice
Operations

SYGMA Other Corporate Consolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Sales $9,704,495 $2,799,251 $1,605,753 $240,005 $— $14,349,504
Sales increase (decrease) 5.1 % 10.7 % 4.6  % 5.7  % 6.1 %
Percentage of total 67.6 % 19.5 % 11.2  % 1.7  % 100.0 %

Operating income $695,464 $19,319 $4,477 $5,945 $(239,272) $485,933
Operating income increase
(decrease) 0.9 % 20.2 % (39.0 )% (2.2 )% 11.5 %

Percentage of total segments 95.9 % 2.7 % 0.6  % 0.8  % 100.0 %
Operating income as a
percentage of sales 7.2 % 0.7 % 0.3  % 2.5  % 3.4 %

13-Week Period Ended Apr. 1, 2017
U.S.
Foodservice
Operations

International
Foodservice
Operations

SYGMA Other Corporate Consolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Sales $9,233,048 $2,528,485 $1,535,550 $227,089 $— $13,524,172
Percentage of total 68.3 % 18.7 % 11.4 % 1.7 % 100.0 %

Operating income $689,210 $16,076 $7,344 $6,078 $(282,746) $435,962
Percentage of total segments 95.9 % 2.2 % 1.0 % 0.8 % 100.0 %
Operating income as a
percentage of sales 7.5 % 0.6 % 0.5 % 2.7 % 3.2 %

39-Week Period Ended Mar. 31, 2018
U.S.
Foodservice
Operations

International
Foodservice
Operations

SYGMA Other Corporate Consolidated
Totals

(In thousands)
Sales $29,234,662 $8,571,549 $4,879,569 $725,638 $— $43,411,418
Sales increase (decrease) 5.2 % 8.7  % 7.0  % 2.6  % 6.0 %
Percentage of total 67.3 % 19.7  % 11.2  % 1.8  % 100.0 %

Operating income $2,182,708 $148,403 $12,675 $13,181 $(715,660) $1,641,307
Operating income increase
(decrease) 3.2 % (17.7 )% (17.7 )% (26.3 )% 9.8 %

Percentage of total segments 92.6 % 6.3  % 0.5  % 0.6  % 100.0 %
Operating income as a
percentage of sales 7.5 % 1.7  % 0.3  % 1.8  % 3.8 %

39-Week Period Ended Apr. 1, 2017
U.S.
Foodservice

International
Foodservice

SYGMA Other Corporate Consolidated
Totals
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Operations Operations
(In thousands)

Sales $27,799,728 $7,882,796 $4,560,424 $707,146 $— $40,950,094
Percentage of total 67.9 % 19.2 % 11.1 % 1.6 % 100.0 %

Operating income $2,115,762 $180,324 $15,407 $17,873 $(834,154) $1,495,212
Percentage of total segments 90.8 % 7.7 % 0.7 % 0.8 % 100.0 %
Operating income as a
percentage of sales 7.6 % 2.3 % 0.3 % 2.5 % 3.7 %
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Based on information in Note 13, “Business Segment Information” in the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018,
U.S. Foodservice Operations and International Foodservice Operations, collectively, represented approximately 87.1%
of Sysco’s overall sales. In the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, U.S. Foodservice Operations and
International Foodservice Operations collectively represented approximately 98.6% and 98.9% of the total segment
operating income, respectively.  This illustrates that these segments represent the majority of our total segment results
when compared to the other reportable segment.

Results of U.S. Foodservice Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of the components of operating income expressed as a percentage increase
or decrease over the comparable period in the prior year:

13-Week
Period
Ended Mar.
31, 2018

13-Week
Period
Ended Apr.
1, 2017

13-Week
Period
Ended
Change in
Dollars

13-Week
Period
%
Change

(In thousands)
Sales $9,704,495 $9,233,048 $471,447 5.1 %
Gross profit 1,911,704 1,836,226 75,478 4.1
Operating expenses 1,216,240 1,147,016 69,224 6.0
Operating income $695,464 $689,210 $6,254 0.9 %

Gross profit $1,911,704 $1,836,226 $75,478 4.1 %
Adjusted operating expenses (Non-GAAP) 1,214,540 1,147,016 67,524 5.9
Adjusted operating income (Non-GAAP) $697,164 $689,210 $7,954 1.2 %

39-Week
Period
Ended Mar.
31, 2018

39-Week
Period
Ended Apr.
1, 2017

39-Week
Period
Ended
Change in
Dollars

39-Week
Period
%
Change

(In thousands)
Sales $29,234,662 $27,799,728 $1,434,934 5.2 %
Gross profit 5,813,453 5,572,364 241,089 4.3
Operating expenses 3,630,745 3,456,602 174,143 5.0
Operating income $2,182,708 $2,115,762 $66,946 3.2 %

Gross profit $5,813,453 $5,572,364 $241,089 4.3 %
Adjusted operating expenses (Non-GAAP) 3,629,045 3,456,132 172,913 5.0
Adjusted operating income (Non-GAAP) $2,184,408 $2,116,232 $68,176 3.2 %
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Sales

The following table sets forth the percentage and dollar value increase or decrease in sales as compared to the
comparable prior year period in order to demonstrate the cause and magnitude of change.

Increase
(Decrease)
13-Week Period
(Dollars in
millions)

Cause of change PercentageDollars
Case volume 1.5  % $140.5
Inflation 2.6 240.8
Acquisitions 0.8 76.0
Other (1) 0.2 14.2
Total sales increase 5.1  % $471.5

Increase
(Decrease)
39-Week Period
(Dollars in
millions)

Cause of change PercentageDollars
Case volume 1.6  % $455.1
Inflation 3.2 900.8
Acquisitions 0.5 126.6
Other (0.1) (47.6 )
Total sales increase 5.2  % $1,434.9

(1) Case volume excludes the volume impact from our custom-cut meat companies that do not measure volume in
cases. Any impact in volumes from these operations is included within “Other.”

Sales for the third quarter of fiscal 2018 were 5.1% higher than the third quarter of fiscal 2017. The largest drivers of
the increase were the impact of product cost inflation and case volume growth in our U.S. Broadline operations. Case
volumes from our U.S. Broadline operations, including acquisitions within the last 12 months, increased 2.4% in the
third quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2017 and included a 2.6% improvement in locally
managed customer case growth, along with an increase of 2.2% in national customer case volume, including chain
restaurants and multi-locational restaurants. Sales from acquisitions within the last 12 months favorably impacted
locally managed customer sales by 0.8% for the third quarter of fiscal 2018; therefore, organic local case volume,
which excludes acquisitions, grew 1.8%. Sales for the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 were 5.2% higher than the first 39
weeks of fiscal 2017. The largest drivers of the increase were the impact of product cost inflation and case volume
growth in our U.S. Broadline operations. Case volumes from our U.S. Broadline operations, including acquisitions
within the last 12 months, improved 2.0% in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 compared to the first 39 weeks of fiscal
2017, and included a 3.3% improvement in locally managed customer case volume. Sales from acquisitions within the
last 12 months favorably impacted locally managed customer sales by 0.5% for the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018;
therefore, organic local case volume, which excludes acquisitions, grew 2.8%.

Operating income increased 0.9% for the third quarter of fiscal 2018, as compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2017.
Operating income for the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 increased 3.2%, or $66.9 million, compared to the first 39
weeks of fiscal 2017.
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Gross profit dollars increased 4.1% and 4.3% in the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, respectively, as
compared to the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017, driven by customer mix that continued to improve as
local cases grew faster than national cases. Additionally, growth in Sysco brand has continued to drive gross profit
growth. Our Sysco brand sales to local customers increased by approximately 62 and 55 basis points for the third
quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, respectively. The estimated change in product costs, an internal measure of
inflation or deflation, for the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 for our U.S. Broadline operations was
inflation of 2.6% and 3.2%, respectively. Inflation in the third quarter of fiscal 2018 occurred primarily in the meat,
dairy and produce categories. Gross margin, which is gross profit as a percentage of sales, was 19.7% and 19.9% in
the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, respectively, a decline of 19 and 16 basis points from the gross
margin of 19.9% and 20.0% in the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017, respectively. This
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decline was largely attributable to the inflationary environment, new customers added at lower margin rates and cost
pressures from inbound freight.

Operating expenses for the third quarter of fiscal 2018 increased 6.0%, or $69.2 million, compared to the third quarter
of fiscal 2017. Operating expenses for the first 39 weeks of 2018 increased 5.0%, or $174.1 million, compared to the
first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017. Our operating expense growth is primarily attributable to increased supply chain costs in
both warehouse and transportation, our ongoing investment in our selling organization, specifically marketing
associates, in an effort to accelerate our local sales, and increased bad debt expense as a result of year-over-year
comparisons to a strong prior year period. In supply chain, costs increased due to a combination of the impact of
unfavorable weather, a continuation of ramp up costs for new business and increased fuel costs. The increases in
operating expenses for the period included $43.1 million and $92.7 million increases in pay-related expenses in the
third quarter and first 39 weeks of 2018, respectively.

Results of International Foodservice Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of the components of operating income and adjusted operating income
expressed as a percentage increase or decrease over the comparable period in the prior year:

13-Week
Period
Ended
Mar. 31,
2018

13-Week
Period
Ended Apr.
1, 2017

13-Week
Period
Ended
Change in
Dollars

13-Week
Period
%
Change

(In thousands)
Sales $2,799,251 $2,528,485 $270,766 10.7  %
Gross profit 583,226 516,748 66,478 12.9
Operating expenses 563,907 500,672 63,235 12.6
Operating income $19,319 $16,076 $3,243 20.2  %

Gross profit $583,226 $516,748 $66,478 12.9  %
Adjusted operating expenses (Non-GAAP) 538,676 476,845 61,831 13.0
Adjusted operating income (Non-GAAP) $44,550 $39,903 $4,647 11.6  %

39-Week
Period
Ended
Mar. 31,
2018

39-Week
Period
Ended Apr.
1, 2017

39-Week
Period
Ended
Change in
Dollars

39-Week
Period
%
Change

(In thousands)
Sales $8,571,549 $7,882,796 $688,753 8.7  %
Gross profit 1,797,976 1,691,368 106,608 6.3
Operating expenses 1,649,573 1,511,044 138,529 9.2
Operating income $148,403 $180,324 $(31,921 ) (17.7 )%

Gross profit $1,797,976 $1,691,368 $106,608 6.3  %
Adjusted operating expenses (Non-GAAP) 1,579,520 1,437,157 142,363 9.9
Adjusted operating income (Non-GAAP) $218,456 $254,211 $(35,755 ) (14.1 )%
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Sales

The following table sets forth the percentage and dollar value increase or decrease in sales as compared to the
comparable prior year period in order to demonstrate the cause and magnitude of change.

Increase
(Decrease)
13-Week Period
(Dollars in
millions)

Cause of change PercentageDollars
Case volume 0.4  % $10.7
Inflation 2.5 64.0
Acquisitions 0.3 7.4
Foreign currency 8.4 212.9
Other (0.9 ) (24.3 )
Total sales increase 10.7 % $270.7

Increase
(Decrease)
39-Week Period
(Dollars in
millions)

Cause of change PercentageDollars
Case volume 0.7  % $51.2
Inflation 3.6 283.2
Acquisitions 0.3 22.6
Foreign currency 5.2 405.8
Other (1.1 ) (74.1 )
Total sales increase 8.7  % $688.7

Sales for the third quarter of fiscal 2018 were 10.7% and 8.7% higher than the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal
2017, respectively, primarily due to favorable changes in exchange rates used to translate our foreign sales into U.S.
dollars, as well as product cost inflation in Europe and Canada. The U.K. continues to experience acute product
inflation due to weakness in the pound sterling, which contributed to food cost inflation of approximately 5% during
the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018.

Operating income decreased by $3.2 million and $31.9 million, or 20.2% and 17.7%, for the third quarter and first 39
weeks of fiscal 2018, respectively, as compared to the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017. The decreases
were primarily attributable to increased operating expenses combined with softer results in the European business due
to winter storms that had a negative impact across parts of our European and Canadian business as a result of reduced
shipping days and acute product inflation in the mid-to-high single digits. The decreases in operating income were
partially offset by improvements in our Canadian operations. We continue to focus on executing against our long-term
plans by investing in necessary capabilities across our International businesses and leveraging our position as a
platform for future growth.

Gross profit dollars increased by 12.9% and 6.3% in the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, respectively,
as compared to the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017, primarily attributable to a combination of product
costs increasing and currency translation in the U.K. along with local case growth in our Canadian operations.
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Operating expenses for the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 increased 12.6% and 9.2%, or $63.2 million
and $138.5 million, respectively, compared to the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017.  We continue to
make investments in our supply chain transformation across Europe. This includes a project to integrate our operations
in France, Brakes France and Davigel, to create a new entity, Sysco France. In addition, we are investing in new
capabilities, such as technology solutions, that are being implemented across the business to enrich the customer
experience and lead to improved loyalty and accelerated case growth with our local and independent customers. The
increase was also driven by increased transportation costs and depreciation expense. Certain Items applicable to this
segment include Brakes Acquisition-related costs and restructuring costs within our European and Canadian
operations.
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Results of SYGMA and Other Segment

For SYGMA, sales were 4.6% and 7.0% higher in the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, respectively, as
compared to the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017, primarily from case growth and product cost inflation. 
Case growth was primarily due to increased volume from existing customers. SYGMA experienced product cost
inflation at a rate of 1.7% and 2.8% for the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, respectively. Operating
income decreased by $2.9 million and $2.7 million in the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, respectively,
as compared to the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017, due to increased expenses, including inbound
freight issues and increased transportation costs due to driver challenges and outsourced delivery costs to meet the
high service level expectations of our customers.

For the operations that are grouped within Other, operating income decreased 2.2%, or $0.1 million, and 26.3%, or
$4.7 million, in the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, respectively, as compared to the third quarter and
first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017. 

Corporate Expenses

Corporate expenses in the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 decreased $56.0 million, or 19.7%, and
$128.6 million, or 15.5%, respectively, as compared to the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017, due
primarily to the favorable comparison of depreciation expense. During the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal
2017, we incurred $45.9 million and $138.2 million, respectively, of depreciation on our previously existing ERP
system, which became fully depreciated at the end of fiscal 2017. A portion of this depreciation expense was included
in Certain Items during fiscal 2017. The decrease in expenses was partially offset by an increase in business
technology costs in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018. Corporate expenses, on an adjusted basis, decreased $38.4
million, or 15.7%, and $77.2 million, or 10.8%, as compared to the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017,
respectively, primarily due to lower business technology costs, partially attributable to reduced depreciation expense.
Reduced expenses from management incentives are also contributing to the decrease in corporate expenses specific to
third quarter of fiscal 2018, as compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2017.

Included in corporate expenses are Certain Items that totaled $22.9 million and $64.1 million in the third quarter and
first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, respectively, as compared to $40.5 million and $115.4 million in the third quarter and
first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017. Certain Items impacting the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 were
primarily expenses associated with our business technology transformation initiatives, Brakes integration costs,
professional fees on three-year financial objectives and severance charges. Certain Items for the third quarter and first
39 weeks of fiscal 2017 primarily included $27.7 million and $83.6 million, respectively, of accelerated depreciation
on our previously existing ERP system, in addition to Brakes integration costs, costs incurred to convert to legacy
systems in conjunction with our revised business technology strategy, and expenses related to professional fees on
three-year financial objectives.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $55.1 million and $76.2 million for the third quarter and the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018,
respectively, as compared to the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017, primarily due to the partial redemption
of the senior notes and debentures due 2027, 2028, 2035 and 2039 pursuant to a tender offer in the third quarter of
fiscal 2018. Interest charges related to the redemption costs noted above are considered Certain Items. Our interest
expense, excluding Certain Items, increased $2.0 million and $23.1 million for the third quarter and the first 39 weeks
of fiscal 2018, respectively, as compared to the third quarter and the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017, due to higher
borrowing levels from senior notes that were issued in fiscal 2017 primarily to pay off a portion of our outstanding
commercial paper borrowings.
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Net Earnings

Net earnings increased 38.5% and 17.3% in the third quarter and first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, respectively, as
compared to the third quarter and first 39 weeks of the prior year due primarily to the items noted above, as well as
items impacting our income taxes that are discussed in Note 2, “Changes in Accounting,” and Note 11, “Income Taxes.” 
Adjusted net earnings, excluding Certain Items, increased 28.9% and 19.7% in the third quarter and first 39 weeks of
fiscal 2018, respectively, primarily from gross profit growth and favorable expense comparisons, as well as tax
benefits.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share in the third quarter of fiscal 2018 were $0.63, a 43.2% increase from the comparable prior
period amount of $0.44 per share. Diluted earnings per share in the third quarter of fiscal 2018 were $0.63, a 43.2%
increase from the comparable prior period amount of $0.44 per share.  Adjusted diluted earnings per share, excluding
Certain Items, in the third 
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quarter of fiscal 2018 were $0.67, a 31.4% increase from the comparable prior period amount of $0.51 per share. 
These results were primarily attributable to the factors discussed above related to net earnings in the third quarter of
fiscal 2018, including a three cent per share benefit from excess tax benefits of equity-based compensation.

Basic earnings per share in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 were $1.88, a 22.9% increase from the comparable prior
period amount of $1.53 per share. Diluted earnings per share in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 were $1.85, a 21.7%
increase from the comparable prior period amount of $1.52 per share. Adjusted diluted earnings per share, excluding
Certain Items, in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 were $2.19, a 24.4% increase from the comparable prior period
amount of $1.76 per share. These results were primarily attributable to the factors discussed above related to net
earnings in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, including a nine cent per share benefit from excess tax benefits of
equity-based compensation. We recorded various estimates related to U.S. tax reform and the reduction of our U.S.
statutory tax rate to a blended rate of 28% for fiscal 2018.

Non-GAAP Reconciliations

Sysco’s results of operations for fiscal 2018 and 2017 are impacted by restructuring costs consisting of: (1) expenses
associated with our revised business technology strategy announced in fiscal 2016, as a result of which we incurred
costs to convert to a modernized version of our established platform as opposed to completing the implementation of
an ERP; (2) professional fees related to our three-year strategic plan; (3) restructuring expenses within our Brakes
Group operations; and (4) severance charges related to restructuring. In addition, fiscal 2018 results of operations are
impacted by business technology transformation initiative costs, facility closure charges, MEPP withdrawal charges
and debt extinguishment charges. Our results of operations for fiscal 2018 and 2017 are also impacted by the
following acquisition-related items: (1) intangible amortization expense and (2) integration costs. All
acquisition-related costs in fiscal 2018 and 2017 that have been excluded relate to the Brakes acquisition.  The Brakes
acquisition also resulted in non-recurring tax expense in fiscal 2017, primarily from non-deductible transaction costs.
Sysco’s results of operations for fiscal 2018 are also impacted by reform measures from the Tax Act enacted on
December 22, 2017. The impact for fiscal 2018 includes: (1) a provisional estimate of a one-time transition tax on
certain unrepatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries; (2) a net benefit from remeasuring Sysco’s accrued income taxes,
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets due to the changes in tax rates; and (3) a benefit from contributions
made to fund the Pension Plan. These fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 items are collectively referred to as “Certain Items.”

Management believes that adjusting its operating expenses, operating income, interest expense, net earnings and
diluted earnings per share to remove these Certain Items, provides an important perspective with respect to our
underlying business trends and results and provides meaningful supplemental information to both management and
investors that (1) is indicative of the performance of the company’s underlying operations, facilitating comparisons on
a year-over-year basis and (2) removes those items that are difficult to predict and are often unanticipated and that, as
a result, are difficult to include in analysts’ financial models and our investors’ expectations with any degree of
specificity.

Although Sysco has a history of growth through acquisitions, the Brakes Group is significantly larger than the
companies historically acquired by Sysco, with a proportionately greater impact on Sysco’s consolidated financial
statements. Accordingly, Sysco is excluding from its non-GAAP financial measures for the relevant period solely
those acquisition costs specific to the Brakes acquisition. We believe this approach significantly enhances the
comparability of Sysco’s results for fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017.

Set forth below is a reconciliation of sales, operating expenses, operating income, interest expense, net earnings and
diluted earnings per share to adjusted results for these measures for the periods presented. Individual components of
diluted earnings per share may not add to the total presented due to rounding.  Adjusted diluted earnings per share is
calculated using adjusted net earnings divided by diluted shares outstanding.
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13-Week
Period
Ended Mar.
31, 2018

13-Week
Period
Ended Apr.
1, 2017

Change in
Dollars

%
Change

(In thousands, except for share and per share
data)

Operating expenses (GAAP) $2,189,695 $2,098,173 $91,522 4.4  %
Impact of MEPP charge (1,700 ) — (1,700 ) NM
Impact of restructuring costs (1) (22,781 ) (40,064 ) 17,283 (43.1 )
Impact of acquisition-related costs (2) (25,361 ) (24,273 ) (1,088 ) 4.5
Operating expenses adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $2,139,853 $2,033,836 $106,017 5.2  %

Operating income (GAAP) $485,933 $435,962 $49,971 11.5  %
Impact of MEPP charge 1,700 — 1,700 NM
Impact of restructuring costs (1) 22,781 40,064 (17,283 ) (43.1 )
Impact of acquisition-related costs (2) 25,361 24,273 1,088 4.5
Operating income adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $535,775 $500,299 $35,476 7.1  %

Interest expense (GAAP) $136,145 $81,004 $55,141 68.1  %
Impact of loss on extinguishment of debt (53,104 ) — (53,104 ) NM
Interest expense adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $83,041 $81,004 $2,037 2.5  %

Net earnings (GAAP) $330,085 $238,278 $91,807 38.5  %
Impact of MEPP charge 1,700 — 1,700 NM
Impact of restructuring costs (1) 22,781 40,064 (17,283 ) (43.1 )
Impact of acquisition-related costs (2) 25,361 24,273 1,088 4.5
Impact of loss on extinguishment of debt 53,104 — 53,104 NM
Tax impact of MEPP charge (585 ) — (585 ) NM
Tax impact of restructuring costs (3) (7,571 ) (17,524 ) 9,953 (56.8 )
Tax impact of acquisition-related costs (3) (6,633 ) (9,229 ) 2,596 (28.1 )
Tax impact of loss on extinguishment of debt (18,225 ) — (18,225 ) NM
Tax impact of retirement plan contribution (44,424 ) — (44,424 ) NM
Net earnings adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $355,593 $275,862 $79,731 28.9  %

Diluted earnings per share (GAAP) $0.63 $0.44 $0.19 43.2  %
Impact of restructuring costs (1) 0.04 0.07 (0.03 ) (42.9 )
Impact of acquisition-related costs (2) 0.05 0.04 0.01 25.0
Impact of loss on extinguishment of debt 0.10 — 0.10 NM
Tax impact of restructuring costs (3) (0.01 ) (0.03 ) 0.02 (66.7 )
Tax impact of acquisition-related costs (3) (0.01 ) (0.02 ) 0.01 (50.0 )
Tax impact of loss on extinguishment of debt (0.03 ) — (0.03 ) NM
Tax impact of retirement plan contribution (0.08 ) — (0.08 ) NM
Diluted EPS adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) (4) $0.67 $0.51 $0.16 31.4  %

(1) Fiscal 2018 includes business technology transformation initiative costs, professional fees on three-year financial
objectives, restructuring expenses within our Brakes operations, costs to convert to legacy systems in conjunction
with our revised business technology strategy, severance charges related to restructuring, and facility closure
charges. Fiscal 2017 includes $28 million  in accelerated depreciation associated with our revised business
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technology strategy and $12 million related to restructuring expenses within our Brakes operations, costs to
convert to legacy systems in conjunction with our revised business technology strategy, severance charges related
to restructuring and professional fees on three-year financial objectives.

(2)
Fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 include $20 million and $19 million, respectively, related to intangible amortization
expense from the Brakes Acquisition, which is included in the results of Brakes, and $4 million and $7 million,
respectively, in integration costs.

43

Edgar Filing: SYSCO CORP - Form 10-Q

73



(3)

The tax impact of adjustments for Certain Items are calculated by multiplying the pretax impact of each Certain
Item by the statutory rates in effect for each jurisdiction where the Certain Item was incurred. The Brakes
Acquisition also resulted in non-recurring tax expense in fiscal 2017, primarily from non-deductible transaction
costs.

(4) Individual components of diluted earnings per share may not add to the total presented due to rounding. Total
diluted earnings per share is calculated using adjusted net earnings divided by diluted shares outstanding.

NM represent that the percentage change is not meaningful.
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39-Week
Period
Ended Mar.
31, 2018

39-Week
Period
Ended Apr.
1, 2017

Change in
Dollars

%
Change

(In thousands, except for share and per share
data)

Operating expenses (GAAP) $6,527,375 $6,302,705 $224,670 3.6  %
Impact of MEPP charge (1,700 ) — (1,700 ) NM
Impact of restructuring costs (1) (63,211 ) (118,438 ) 55,227 (46.6 )
Impact of acquisition-related costs (2) (70,906 ) (71,352 ) 446 (0.6 )
Operating expenses adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $6,391,558 $6,112,915 $278,643 4.6  %

Operating income (GAAP) $1,641,307 $1,495,212 $146,095 9.8  %
Impact of MEPP charge 1,700 — 1,700 NM
Impact of restructuring costs (1) 63,211 118,438 (55,227 ) (46.6 )
Impact of acquisition-related costs (2) 70,906 71,352 (446 ) (0.6 )
Operating income adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $1,777,124 $1,685,002 $92,122 5.5  %

Interest expense (GAAP) $303,015 $226,858 $76,157 33.6  %
Impact of loss on extinguishment of debt (53,104 ) — (53,104 ) NM
Interest expense adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $249,911 $226,858 $23,053 10.2  %

Net earnings (GAAP) $981,838 $837,332 $144,506 17.3  %
Impact of MEPP charge 1,700 — 1,700 NM
Impact of restructuring costs (1) 63,211 118,438 (55,227 ) (46.6 )
Impact of acquisition-related costs (2) 70,906 71,352 (446 ) (0.6 )
Impact of loss on extinguishment of debt 53,104 — 53,104 NM
Tax impact of MEPP charge (582 ) — (582 ) NM
Tax impact of restructuring costs (3) (20,170 ) (36,840 ) 16,670 (45.2 )
Tax impact of acquisition-related costs (3) (17,778 ) (19,515 ) 1,737 (8.9 )
Tax impact of loss on extinguishment of debt (18,225 ) — (18,225 ) NM
Impact of U.S. transition tax 115,000 — 115,000 NM
Impact of U.S. balance sheet remeasurement from tax law change (14,477 ) — (14,477 ) NM
Impact of France and U.K. tax law changes (8,137 ) — (8,137 ) NM
Tax impact of retirement plan contribution (44,424 ) — (44,424 ) NM
Net earnings adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $1,161,966 $970,767 $191,199 19.7  %

Diluted earnings per share (GAAP) $1.85 $1.52 $0.33 21.7  %
Impact of restructuring costs (1) 0.12 0.21 (0.09 ) (42.9 )
Impact of acquisition-related costs (2) 0.13 0.13 — NM
Impact of loss on extinguishment of debt 0.10 — 0.10 NM
Tax impact of acquisition-related costs (3) (0.04 ) (0.07 ) 0.03 (42.9 )
Tax impact of acquisition financing costs (3) (0.03 ) (0.04 ) 0.01 (25.0 )
Tax impact of loss on extinguishment of debt (0.03 ) — (0.03 ) NM
Impact of U.S. transition tax 0.22 — 0.22 NM
Impact of U.S. balance sheet remeasurement from tax law change (0.03 ) — (0.03 ) NM
Impact of France and U.K. tax law changes (0.02 ) — (0.02 ) NM
Tax impact of retirement plan contribution (0.08 ) — (0.08 ) NM
Diluted EPS adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) (4) $2.19 $1.76 $0.43 24.4  %
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(1)

Fiscal 2018 includes business technology transformation initiative costs, professional fees on three-year financial
objectives, restructuring expenses within our Brakes operations, costs to convert to legacy systems in conjunction
with our revised business technology strategy, severance charges related to restructuring, and facility closure
charges. Fiscal 2017 includes $84 million 
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in accelerated depreciation associated with our revised business technology strategy and $35 million related to
professional fees on 3-year financial objectives, restructuring expenses within our Brakes operations, costs to convert
to legacy systems in conjunction with our revised business technology strategy and severance charges.

(2)
Fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 include $51 million and $57 million, respectively, related to intangible amortization
expense from the Brakes Acquisition, which is included in the results of Brakes, and $14 million and $15 million
in integration costs, respectively.

(3)

The tax impact of adjustments for Certain Items are calculated by multiplying the pretax impact of each Certain
Item by the statutory rates in effect for each jurisdiction where the Certain Item was incurred. The Brakes
Acquisition also resulted in non-recurring tax expense in fiscal 2017, primarily from non-deductible transaction
costs.

(4) Individual components of diluted earnings per share may not add to the total presented due to rounding. Total
diluted earnings per share is calculated using adjusted net earnings divided by diluted shares outstanding.

NM represent that the percentage change is not meaningful.

Set forth below is a reconciliation by segment of actual operating expenses and operating income to adjusted results
for these measures for applicable segments and corporate for the periods presented:

13-Week
Period
Ended Mar.
31, 2018

13-Week
Period
Ended Apr.
1, 2017

Change in
Dollars

%
Change

U.S. FOODSERVICE OPERATIONS
Operating expenses $1,216,240 $1,147,016 $69,224 6.0  %
Impact of MEPP charge (1,700 ) — (1,700 ) NM
Operating expenses adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $1,214,540 $1,147,016 $67,524 5.9  %

Operating income $695,464 $689,210 $6,254 0.9  %
Impact of MEPP charge 1,700 — 1,700 NM
Operating income adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $697,164 $689,210 $7,954 1.2  %

INTERNATIONAL FOODSERVICE OPERATIONS
Operating expenses (GAAP) $563,907 $500,672 $63,235 12.6  %
Impact of restructuring costs (1) (3,552 ) (6,779 ) 3,227 (47.6)
Impact of acquisition-related costs (2) (21,679 ) (17,048 ) (4,631 ) 27.2
Operating expenses adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $538,676 $476,845 $61,831 13.0  %

Operating income (GAAP) $19,319 $16,076 $3,243 20.2  %
Impact of restructuring costs (1) 3,552 6,779 (3,227 ) (47.6)
Impact of acquisition related costs (2) 21,679 17,048 4,631 27.2
Operating income adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $44,550 $39,903 $4,647 11.6  %

CORPORATE
Operating expenses (GAAP) $228,371 $284,330 $(55,959) (19.7)%
Impact of restructuring costs (3) (19,229 ) (33,286 ) 14,057 (42.2)
Impact of acquisition-related costs (4) (3,682 ) (7,224 ) 3,542 (49.0)
Operating expenses adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $205,460 $243,820 $(38,360) (15.7)%

Operating income (GAAP) $(239,272 ) $(282,746 ) $43,474 (15.4)%
Impact of restructuring costs (3) 19,229 33,286 (14,057 ) (42.2)
Impact of acquisition-related costs (4) 3,682 7,224 (3,542 ) (49.0)
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Operating income adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $(216,361 ) $(242,236 ) $25,875 (10.7)%

(1) Includes Brakes Acquisition-related restructuring charges, facility closure charges and other severance charges
related to restructuring.
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(2) Fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 include $20 million and $19 million, respectively, related to intangible amortization
expense from the Brakes Acquisition, which is included in the results of the Brakes Group.

(3)

Fiscal 2018 includes business technology transformation initiative costs, professional fees on three-year financial
objectives, costs to convert to legacy systems in conjunction with our revised business technology strategy and
severance charges related to restructuring. Fiscal 2017 includes $28 million in accelerated depreciation associated
with our revised business technology strategy and $6 million related to costs to convert to legacy systems in
conjunction with our revised business technology strategy, professional fees on three-year financial objectives and
severance charges related to restructuring.

(4) Fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 include $4 million and $7 million, respectively, related to integration costs from the
Brakes Acquisition.

39-Week
Period
Ended Mar.
31, 2018

39-Week
Period
Ended Apr.
1, 2017

Change in
Dollars

%
Change

U.S. FOODSERVICE OPERATIONS
Operating expenses $3,630,745 $3,456,602 $174,143 5.0  %
Impact of MEPP charge (1,700 ) — (1,700 ) NM
Impact of restructuring costs — (470 ) 470 NM
Operating expenses adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $3,629,045 $3,456,132 $172,913 5.0  %

Operating income $2,182,708 $2,115,762 $66,946 3.2  %
Impact of MEPP charge 1,700 — 1,700 NM
Impact of restructuring costs — 470 (470 ) NM
Operating income adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $2,184,408 $2,116,232 $68,176 3.2  %

INTERNATIONAL FOODSERVICE OPERATIONS
Operating expenses (GAAP) $1,649,573 $1,511,044 $138,529 9.2  %
Impact of restructuring costs (1) (13,052 ) (17,049 ) 3,997 (23.4)
Impact of acquisition-related costs (2) (57,001 ) (56,838 ) (163 ) 0.3
Operating expenses adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $1,579,520 $1,437,157 $142,363 9.9  %

Operating income (GAAP) $148,403 $180,324 $(31,921 ) (17.7)%
Impact of restructuring costs (1) 13,052 17,049 (3,997 ) (23.4)
Impact of acquisition related costs (2) 57,001 56,838 163 0.3
Operating income adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $218,456 $254,211 $(35,755 ) (14.1)%

CORPORATE
Operating expenses (GAAP) $703,425 $831,976 $(128,551) (15.5)%
Impact of restructuring costs (3) (50,159 ) (100,919 ) 50,760 (50.3)
Impact of acquisition-related costs (4) (13,904 ) (14,514 ) 610 (4.2 )
Operating expenses adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $639,362 $716,543 $(77,181 ) (10.8)%

Operating income (GAAP) $(715,660 ) $(834,154 ) $118,494 (14.2)%
Impact of restructuring costs (3) 50,159 100,919 (50,760 ) (50.3)
Impact of acquisition-related costs (4) 13,904 14,514 (610 ) (4.2 )
Operating income adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP) $(651,597 ) $(718,721 ) $67,124 (9.3 )%

(1)
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Includes Brakes Acquisition-related restructuring charges, facility closure charges and other severance charges
related to restructuring.

(2) Fiscal 2018 and 2017 include $51 million and $57 million, respectively, related to intangible amortization expense
from the Brakes Acquisition, which is included in the results of the Brakes Group.

47

Edgar Filing: SYSCO CORP - Form 10-Q

80



(3)

Fiscal 2018 includes business technology transformation initiative costs, professional fees on three-year financial
objectives, costs to convert to legacy systems in conjunction with our revised business technology strategy and
severance charges related to restructuring. Fiscal 2017 includes $84 million in accelerated depreciation associated
with our revised business technology strategy and $17 million related to professional fees on 3-year financial
objectives, costs to convert to legacy systems in conjunction with our revised business technology strategy and
severance charges.

(4) Fiscal 2018 and 2017 include $14 million and $15 million, respectively, related to integration costs from the
Brakes Acquisition.

Three-Year Financial Targets

Sysco management considers adjusted ROIC to be a measure that provides useful information to management and
investors in evaluating the efficiency and effectiveness of the company’s long-term capital investments. In addition, we
have targets and expectations that are based on adjusted results, including an adjusted ROIC target of 15% under our
current three-year plan and 16% under our new three-year plan. We cannot predict with certainty when we will
achieve these results or whether the calculation of our ROIC in such future period will be on an adjusted basis due to
the effect of Certain Items, which would be excluded from such calculation. Due to these uncertainties, to the extent
our future calculation of ROIC is on an adjusted basis excluding Certain Items, we cannot provide a quantitative
reconciliation of this non-GAAP measure to the most directly comparable GAAP measure without unreasonable
effort. However, we would expect to calculate adjusted ROIC, if applicable, in the same manner as we have calculated
this historically. All components of our adjusted ROIC calculation would be impacted by Certain Items. We calculate
adjusted ROIC as adjusted net earnings divided by (i) stockholders’ equity, computed as the average of adjusted
stockholders’ equity at the beginning of the year and at the end of each fiscal quarter during the year; and (ii) long-term
debt, computed as the average of the long-term debt at the beginning of the year and at the end of each fiscal quarter
during the year.

Form of calculation:
Net earnings (GAAP)
Impact of Certain Items on net earnings
Adjusted net earnings (Non-GAAP)

Invested Capital (GAAP)
Adjustments to invested capital
Adjusted Invested capital (GAAP)

Return on invested capital (GAAP)
Return on invested capital (Non-GAAP)

Additional targets and expectations include our adjusted operating income target that we expect to achieve by the end
of fiscal 2018 under our current three-year plan and fiscal 2020 under our new three-year plan. Our fiscal 2020
three-year plan further includes target amounts for adjusted net earnings and adjusted diluted earnings per share. Due
to uncertainties in projecting Certain Items, we cannot provide a quantitative reconciliation of these non-GAAP
measures to the most directly comparable GAAP measures without unreasonable effort. However, we would expect to
calculate these adjusted results in the same manner as the reconciliations provided for the historical periods that are
presented herein. The impact of future Certain Items could cause projected non-GAAP amounts to differ significantly
from our GAAP results. Sysco’s three-year targets for fiscal 2018 were developed assuming U.S. statutory tax rates
would not change. In order to communicate the final fiscal 2018 results as compared to these targets, Sysco will
provide results that exclude the impact of U.S. tax reform.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Highlights

Comparisons of the cash flows from the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 to the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017:

•Cash flows from operations were $1.1 billion in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017;
•Capital expenditures totaled $372.6 million in fiscal 2018, compared to $413.8 million in fiscal 2017;

•Free cash flow was $768.5 million in fiscal 2018, compared to $687.7 million in fiscal 2017, (see “Non-GAAP
Reconciliations” below under the heading “Free Cash Flow”);
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•Cash used for acquisition of businesses, net of cash received, was $203.6 million in fiscal 2018, compared to $2.9
billion in fiscal 2017;

•Commercial paper issuances and net bank borrowings were $638.3 million in fiscal 2018, compared to $1.3 billion of
commercial paper issuances and net bank borrowings in fiscal 2017;
•Dividends paid were $534.7 million in fiscal 2018, compared to $521.8 million in fiscal 2017; and
•Cash paid for treasury stock repurchases was $911.0 million in fiscal 2018, compared to $1.5 billion in fiscal 2017.

In addition, for our senior notes:

•We issued an aggregate of $1.0 billion in new senior notes in fiscal 2018; and

•
We repaid senior notes in the amount of $500.0 million and redeemed senior notes and debentures in the amount of
$230.5 million in fiscal 2018, using cash on hand, proceeds from borrowings under our commercial paper program
and a portion of net proceeds from our senior notes offering.

Sources and Uses of Cash

Sysco’s strategic objectives include continuous investment in our business; these investments are funded by a
combination of cash from operations and access to capital from financial markets.  Our operations historically have
produced significant cash flow.  Cash generated from operations is generally allocated to:

•working capital requirements;
•investments in facilities, systems, fleet, other equipment and technology;
•cash dividends;
•acquisitions compatible with our overall growth strategy;
•contributions to our various retirement plans; and
•debt repayments and share repurchases.

We currently estimate $200 million to $300 million in annual cash savings from lower taxes as a result of the Tax Act.
We invested a portion of those savings in our employees through increased contributions to Sysco’s retirement plans.
We will continue to evaluate our options with regard to how best to utilize the balance of these savings and will do so
consistent with our capital allocation priorities. We believe this is an opportunity to reinvest in our business and
further strengthen our competitive advantage.

Any remaining cash generated from operations may be invested in high-quality, short-term instruments.  As a part of
our ongoing strategic analysis, we regularly evaluate business opportunities, including potential acquisitions and sales
of assets and businesses, and our overall capital structure.  Any transactions resulting from these evaluations may
materially impact our liquidity, borrowing capacity, leverage ratios and capital availability.

We continue to generate substantial cash flows from operations and remain in a strong financial position; however,
our liquidity and capital resources can be influenced by economic trends and conditions that impact our results of
operations.  We believe our mechanisms to manage working capital, such as credit monitoring, optimizing inventory
levels and maximizing payment terms with vendors, and our mechanisms to manage the items impacting our gross
profits have been sufficient to limit a significant unfavorable impact on our cash flows from operations.  We believe
these mechanisms will continue to prevent a significant unfavorable impact on our cash flows from operations. 
Seasonal trends also impact our cash flows from operations and free cash flow, as we use more cash earlier in the
fiscal year and then see larger, sequential quarterly increases throughout the remainder of the year.

As of March 31, 2018, we had $901.6 million in cash and cash equivalents, approximately 72.0% of which was held
by our international subsidiaries generated from our earnings of international operations.  If these earnings were
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transferred among countries or repatriated to the U.S., such amounts may be subject to withholding and additional
foreign tax obligations; however, this potential tax obligation has not been accrued for as a result of the company’s
ability and intent to not repatriate this cash. This assertion will continue to be assessed due to the recent enactment of
the Tax Act.
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In December 2017, Sysco established a wholly owned captive insurance subsidiary (the Captive). The primary
purpose of the Captive is to enhance Sysco’s risk financing strategies by providing Sysco the opportunity to negotiate
insurance premiums in the non-retail insurance market. The Captive must maintain a sufficient level of cash to fund
future reserve payments. As of March 31, 2018, we had $102.2 million of restricted cash and restricted cash
equivalents primarily held by the Captive in a cash deposit account in order to meet solvency requirements.

We believe the following sources will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements for the next twelve
months, while maintaining sufficient liquidity for normal operating purposes:

•our cash flows from operations;

•the availability of additional capital under our existing commercial paper programs, supported by our revolving credit
facility and bank line of credit; and

•our ability to access capital from financial markets, including issuances of debt securities, either privately or under our
shelf registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

Due to our strong financial position, we believe that we will continue to be able to effectively access the commercial
paper market and long-term capital markets, if necessary.

Cash Flows

Operating Activities

We generated $1.1 billion in cash flows from operations in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017. These
comparable amounts include year-over-year favorable comparisons on accrued income taxes, accrued expense and
higher operating results, partially offset by a $330 million pension contribution that allowed us to fund the Pension
Plan in the third quarter of fiscal 2018, as well as increased working capital.

Total tax payments have decreased by $455.0 million in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, as compared to the first 39
weeks of fiscal 2017. The decrease was due to savings from the decrease in the tax rates, as well as $136.7 million
from deductions related to our pension contribution and $59.9 million savings from a deduction resulting from our
formation of the Captive.

The positive comparison on accrued expenses was primarily due to a $65.7 million decrease from incentive payments.
Our annual incentive payments from the prior fiscal year are paid in the first quarter of each fiscal year. Our fiscal
2017 performance resulted in lower incentive payments, paid in the first quarter of fiscal 2018, as compared to our
payments in the first quarter of fiscal 2017 that resulted from our fiscal 2016 performance. There was also a $55.1
million decrease in other accruals, such as corporate business technology accruals, professional fee accruals and
acquisition costs, as well as a $49.7 million decrease in interest payments.

Included in the change in other long-term liabilities was a negative comparison primarily from pension contributions.
Pension contributions were $401.6 million in fiscal 2018, including a $330 million contribution that allowed us to
fund and de-risk the Pension Plan in the third quarter of fiscal 2018.

Changes in working capital, specifically accounts receivable, inventory and accounts payable, had a negative impact
of $193.8 million on the period-over-period change in cash flow from operations. This was primarily from working
capital investments in support of sales growth.

Seasonal trends also impact our cash flows from operations, as we use more cash earlier in the fiscal year and then see
larger, sequential quarterly increases throughout the remainder of the year. We believe our operating cash flows for

Edgar Filing: SYSCO CORP - Form 10-Q

85



fiscal 2018 will be generally consistent with the results achieved in fiscal 2017.

Investing Activities

Our capital expenditures in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 primarily consisted of facility replacements and
expansions, fleet, technology and warehouse equipment, including supply chain opportunities involving Sysco
Europe. Our capital expenditures in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 were higher by $41.2 million as compared to the
first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017. We previously forecasted investment, expressed as a percentage of sales, of 1.4 % to
1.5% for fiscal 2018, as we anticipated moving spend from fiscal 2019 to fiscal 2018; however, we currently estimate
that our capital expenditures for fiscal 2018, net of proceeds from sales of assets, will be lower than originally
planned.
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During the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, we paid $203.6 million, net of cash acquired, for acquisitions made during
fiscal 2018, including HFM and Doerle. Additionally, we purchased the remaining 50% interest in our joint venture in
Costa Rica.

Free Cash Flow

Free cash flow represents net cash provided from operating activities, less purchases of plant and equipment, plus
proceeds from sales of plant and equipment.  Sysco considers free cash flow to be a non-GAAP liquidity measure that
provides useful information to management and investors about the amount of cash generated by the business after the
purchases and sales of buildings, fleet, equipment and technology, which may potentially be used to pay for, among
other things, strategic uses of cash, including dividend payments, share repurchases and acquisitions.  However, free
cash flow may not be available for discretionary expenditures, as it may be necessary that we use it to make
mandatory debt service or other payments.  Our free cash flow for the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 increased by $80.7
million, to $768.5 million, as compared to the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017, principally as a result of a year-over-year
increase in cash flows from operations and reduced capital expenditures.

Free cash flow should not be used as a substitute for the most comparable GAAP measure in assessing the company’s
liquidity for the periods presented.  An analysis of any non-GAAP financial measure should be used in conjunction
with results presented in accordance with GAAP.  In the table that follows, free cash flow for each period presented is
reconciled to net cash provided by operating activities.

39-Week
Period
Ended Mar.
31, 2018

39-Week
Period
Ended Apr.
1, 2017

(In thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities (GAAP) $1,124,187 $1,082,424
Additions to plant and equipment (372,612 ) (413,776 )
Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment 16,910 19,091
Free Cash Flow (Non-GAAP) $768,485 $687,739

Seasonal trends also impact our free cash flow, as we use more cash earlier in the fiscal year and then see larger,
sequential quarterly increases throughout the remainder of the year. We believe our free cash flow for fiscal 2018 will
be generally consistent with the results achieved in fiscal 2017 and, therefore, anticipate that we will experience free
cash flow growth over the remainder of the fiscal year.

Financing Activities

Equity Transactions

Proceeds from exercises of share-based compensation awards were $238.4 million in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018,
as compared to $175.3 million in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017. The level of option exercises, and thus proceeds,
will vary from period to period and is largely dependent on movements in our stock price and the time remaining
before option grants expire.

We routinely engage in share repurchase programs.  The number of shares acquired and their cost during the first 39
weeks of fiscal 2018 were 16.9 million shares for $911.0 million, with 29.1 million shares repurchased in the first 39
weeks of fiscal 2017 for $1.5 billion. We repurchased 0.2 million additional shares for $14.2 million through April 20,
2018. In February 2017, our Board of Directors approved a repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of shares
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of the company’s common stock not to exceed $1.0 billion through the end of fiscal 2019. In November 2017, our
Board of Directors approved a repurchase program to authorize the repurchase of the company’s common stock not to
exceed $1.5 billion through the end of fiscal 2020. These repurchase programs are intended to allow Sysco to continue
offsetting dilution resulting from shares issued under the company’s benefit plans and to make opportunistic
repurchases. All share repurchases in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 were made under these authorizations. The
number of shares we repurchase during the remainder of fiscal 2018 will be dependent on many factors, including the
level of future stock option exercises, as well as competing uses for available cash.

Dividends paid in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 were $534.7 million, or $1.02 per share, as compared to $521.8
million, or $0.95 per share, in the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2017.  In February 2018, we declared our regular quarterly
dividend for the third quarter of fiscal 2018 of $0.36 per share, which was paid in April 2018.
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Debt Activity and Borrowing Availability

Our debt activity, including issuances and repayments, and our borrowing availability is described in Note 7, “Debt.”
 Our outstanding borrowings at March 31, 2018, and repayment activity since the close of the third quarter of fiscal
2018, are disclosed within that note.  Updated amounts through April 20, 2018, include:

•$844.3 million outstanding from our commercial paper program; and
•No amounts outstanding from the credit facility supporting the company’s U.S. commercial paper program.

During the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018 and 2017, our aggregate commercial paper issuances and short-term bank
borrowings had weighted average interest rates of 1.58% and 0.85%, respectively.

Included in current maturities of long-term debt as of March 31, 2018 are the 5.38% senior notes totaling $250
million, which mature in March 2019. It is our intention to fund the repayment of these notes at maturity through cash
on hand, cash flow from operations, issuances of commercial paper, issuances of senior notes or a combination
thereof.

Contractual Obligations

Our 2017 Form 10-K contains a table that summarizes our obligations and commitments to make specified contractual
future cash payments as of July 1, 2017. Since July 1, 2017, the only material change to our specified contractual
obligations relates to the one-time transition tax liability that we are required to pay over an eight-year period
beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 due to the provisions enacted as part of the Tax Act and as it relates to
changes in our senior notes, as outlined in Note 7, “Debt.” As noted in Note 11, “Income Taxes,” our transition tax
liability is currently a provisional estimate. The following table sets forth, as of March 31, 2018, certain information,
of our transition tax liability, updating the contractual obligations and commitments to make contractual future
payments disclosed in our 2017 Form 10-K:

Payments Due by Period
More
Than

Total < 1
Year

1-3
Years

3-5
Years 5 Years

(In thousands)
Recorded Contractual Obligations:
One-time transition tax liability $115,000 $19,761 $16,563 $16,563 $62,113

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Critical accounting policies and estimates are those that are most important to the portrayal of our financial position
and results of operations.  These policies require our most subjective or complex judgments, often employing the use
of estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.  We have reviewed with the Audit Committee of
the Board of Directors the development and selection of the critical accounting policies and estimates and this related
disclosure. Our most critical accounting policies and estimates pertain to the company-sponsored pension plans,
income taxes, goodwill and intangible assets and share-based compensation, which are described in Item 7 of our
2017 Form 10-K.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
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In the first quarter of fiscal 2018, two reporting units within Ireland combined as a result of the integration of Sysco’s
Ireland operations with the Ireland operations acquired in the Brakes Acquisition. As a result of this combination, the
company performed an interim impairment test of the goodwill attributable to these reporting units. Each of the
reporting units was tested separately using qualitative assessments. A quantitative test was completed for the
combined reporting unit and no impairment charges were applicable.

Our estimates of fair value contain uncertainties requiring management to make assumptions and to apply judgment to
estimate industry economic factors and the profitability of future business strategies. Actual results could differ from
these assumptions and projections, resulting in the company revising its assumptions and, if required, recognizing an
impairment loss.  There was no impairment recorded as a result of an assessment in the first quarter of fiscal 2018. 
We do not believe the estimates used in the analysis are reasonably likely to change materially in the future, but we
will continue to assess the estimates in the future based on the expectations of the combined reporting unit.
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Income Taxes

The determination of our provision for income taxes requires significant judgment, the use of estimates and the
interpretation and application of complex tax laws. Our provision for income taxes primarily reflects a combination of
income earned and taxed in the various U.S. federal and state, as well as foreign, jurisdictions. Jurisdictional tax law
changes, increases or decreases in permanent differences between book and tax items, accruals or adjustments of
accruals for unrecognized tax benefits or valuation allowances, and our change in the mix of earnings from these
taxing jurisdictions all affect the overall effective tax rate.

As discussed in Note 11, “Income Taxes,” on December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted the Tax Act. The Tax
Act makes broad and complex changes to the U.S. tax code that will affect the company’s fiscal year ending June 30,
2018. Also, in December 2017, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, Income Tax Accounting
Implications of the Tax Cut and Jobs Act (SAB 118), which provides guidance on accounting for the tax effects of the
Tax Act. SAB 118 provides a measurement period that should not extend beyond one year from the Tax Act
enactment date for companies to complete the accounting under Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740,
“Income Taxes” (ASC 740). In accordance with SAB 118, a company must reflect the income tax effects of those
aspects of the Tax Act for which the accounting under ASC 740 is complete. To the extent that a company’s
accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax Act is incomplete, but it is able to determine a reasonable
estimate, it must record a provisional estimate in its financial statements. If a company cannot determine a provisional
estimate to be included in the financial statements, it should continue to apply ASC 740 on the basis of the provisions
of the tax laws that were in effect immediately before the enactment of the Tax Act. The company has not completed
its accounting for the income tax effects of certain elements of the Tax Act, as indicated in Note 11, “Income Taxes.”
 Once Sysco has completed its accounting for the income tax effects of the Tax Act, the ultimate impact may differ
from the provisional amounts recorded due to additional analysis, changes in interpretations and assumptions the
company has made, additional regulatory guidance that may be issued, and actions the company may take as a result
of the Tax Act. The accounting is not expected to extend beyond one year from the Tax Act enactment date.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements made herein that look forward in time or express management’s expectations or beliefs with respect
to the occurrence of future events are forward-looking statements under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995.  Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future events based on certain assumptions and
include any statement that does not directly relate to any historical or current fact. Forward-looking statements can
also be identified by words such as “future,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “predicts,” “will,”
“would,” “could,” “can,” “may,” “projected,” “continues,” “continuously,” variations of such terms, and similar terms and phrases
denoting anticipated or expected occurrences or results. Examples of forward-looking statements include, but are not
limited to, statements about:
•our expectations and beliefs regarding our fair value estimates;

•our expectations with respect to achieving our three-year financial targets through fiscal 2018 and our new three-year
financial objectives through fiscal 2020;
•our expectations regarding product inflation and other economic trends in the U.S. and abroad;
•our expectations regarding the rise of restaurant sales;
•our expectations regarding local customer growth and customer experience;
•our expectations regarding investments in our supply chain transformation across Europe;

•
our expectations regarding our effective tax rate, our accounting for the income tax effects of the Tax Act and the
positive impact of the Tax Act generally, including on our cash savings and our use thereof, on our earnings per share,
and on our three-year financial plan earnings targets;
•our expectations regarding the use of remaining cash generated from operations;
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•our expectations regarding the impact of potential acquisitions and sales of assets on our liquidity, borrowing
capacity, leverage ratios and capital availability;

•our expectations regarding the calculation of adjusted return on invested capital, adjusted operating income, adjusted
net earnings and adjusted diluted earnings per share;
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•our expectations regarding the impact of future Certain Items on our projected future non-GAAP and GAAP results;

•our expectations regarding cash held by international subsidiaries, including our need to repatriate cash held outside
of the U.S. in a tax-efficient manner;

•the sufficiency of our mechanisms for managing working capital and competitive pressures, and our beliefs regarding
the impact of these mechanisms;

•our ability to meet future cash requirements, including the ability to access financial markets effectively, including
issuances of debt securities, and maintain sufficient liquidity;
•our ability to effectively access the commercial paper market and long-term capital markets;

•our expectations regarding operating cash flow, capital expenditures, net of proceeds from sales of assets, cash flow
growth and free cash flow;

•our intention to repay our long-term debt with cash on hand, cash flow from operations, issuances of commercial
paper, issuances of senior notes, or a combination thereof; and
•our expectations regarding share repurchases.

These statements are based on management’s current expectations and estimates; actual results may differ materially
due in part to the risk factors set forth below and those discussed in Item 1A of our 2017 Form 10-K and subsequent
filings with the SEC:
•periods of significant or prolonged inflation or deflation and their impact on our product costs and profitability;

•risks related to unfavorable conditions in the U.S. economy and local markets and the impact on our results of
operations and financial condition;

•

the risks related to our efforts to meet our long-term strategic objectives, including the risk that these efforts may not
provide the expected benefits in our anticipated time frame, if at all, and may prove costlier than expected; the risk
that the actual costs of any initiatives may be greater or less than currently expected; and the risk of adverse effects to
us if past and future undertakings and the associated changes to our business do not prove to be cost effective or do
not result in the level of cost savings and other benefits that we anticipated;

•the impact of unexpected future changes to our business initiatives based on management’s subjective evaluation of
our overall business needs;

•the risk that competition in our industry may adversely impact our margins and our ability to retain customers and
make it difficult for us to maintain our market share, growth rate and profitability;

•the risk that we may not be able to fully compensate for increases in fuel costs, and forward purchase commitments
intended to contain fuel costs could result in above market fuel costs;
•the risk of interruption of supplies and increase in product costs as a result of conditions beyond our control;
•the potential impact on our reputation and earnings of adverse publicity or lack of confidence in our products;
•risks related to unfavorable changes to the mix of locally managed customers versus corporate-managed customers;
•the risk that we may not realize anticipated benefits from our operating cost reduction efforts;
•difficulties in successfully expanding into international markets and complimentary lines of business;
•the potential impact of product liability claims;
•the risk that we fail to comply with requirements imposed by applicable law or government regulations;
•risks related to our ability to effectively finance and integrate acquired businesses;

•risks related to our access to borrowed funds in order to grow and any default by us under our indebtedness that could
have a material adverse impact on cash flow and liquidity;
•our level of indebtedness and the terms of our indebtedness could adversely affect our business and liquidity position;
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•
the risk that the implementation of various initiatives, the timing and successful completion of acquisitions,
construction schedules and the possibility that other cash requirements could result in delays or cancellations of
capital spending;

•the risk that the U.K.’s anticipated exit from the European Union, commonly referred to as Brexit, may adversely
impact our operations in the U.K., including those of the Brakes Group;

•the risk that factors beyond management’s control, including fluctuations in the stock market, as well as management’s
future subjective evaluation of the company’s needs, would impact the timing of share repurchases;

•due to our reliance on technology, any technology disruption or delay in implementing new technology could have a
material negative impact on our business;

•the risk that a cybersecurity incident and other technology disruptions could negatively impact our business and our
relationships with customers;
•the potential requirement to pay material amounts under our multiemployer defined benefit pension plans;

•our funding requirements for our company-sponsored qualified pension plan may increase should financial markets
experience future declines;
•labor issues, including the renegotiation of union contracts and shortage of qualified labor;

•
capital expenditures may vary based on changes in business plans and other factors, including risks related to the
implementation of various initiatives, the timing and successful completion of acquisitions, construction schedules
and the possibility that other cash requirements could result in delays or cancellations of capital spending; and

•the risk that the anti-takeover benefits provided by our preferred stock may not be viewed as beneficial to
stockholders.

For a more detailed discussion of factors that could cause actual results to differ from those contained in the
forward-looking statements, see the risk factors discussion contained in Item 1A of our 2017 Form 10-K and
subsequent filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Our market risks consist of interest rate risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk, fuel price risk and investment
risk.  For a discussion on our exposure to market risk, see Part II, Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
about Market Risks” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 1, 2017. There have been no
significant changes to our market risks since July 1, 2017, except as noted below.

Interest Rate Risk

At March 31, 2018, there were $758.0 million in commercial paper issuances outstanding.  Total debt as of March 31,
2018 was $9.1 billion, of which approximately 73% was at fixed rates of interest, including the impact of our interest
rate swap agreements.

Fuel Price Risk

Due to the nature of our distribution business, we are exposed to potential volatility in fuel prices.  The price and
availability of diesel fuel fluctuates due to changes in production, seasonality and other market factors generally
outside of our control. Increased fuel costs may have a negative impact on our results of operations in three areas.
First, the high cost of fuel can negatively impact consumer confidence and discretionary spending and thus reduce the
frequency and amount spent by consumers for food-away-from-home purchases. Second, the high cost of fuel can
increase the price we pay for product purchases and we may not be able to pass these costs fully to our customers.
Third, increased fuel costs impact the costs we incur to deliver product to our customers. During the first 39 weeks of
fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, fuel costs related to outbound deliveries represented approximately 0.5% of sales in both
periods.
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We use diesel fuel swap contracts to fix the price of a portion of our projected monthly diesel fuel requirements.  As
of March 31, 2018, we had diesel fuel swaps with a total notional amount of approximately 13 million gallons through
June 2018. 
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These swaps will lock in the price of approximately 55% to 65% of our projected fuel purchase needs for fiscal 2018.
Additional swaps have been entered into for hedging activity in fiscal 2019. As of March 31, 2018, we had diesel fuel
swaps with a total notional amount of approximately 29 million gallons specific to fiscal 2019. Our remaining fuel
purchase needs will occur at market rates unless contracted for a fixed price or hedged at a later date.

Item 4.  Controls and Procedures

Sysco’s management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of March 31, 2018.  The term “disclosure controls and
procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other
procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the
time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding the required disclosure.  Management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their
objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible
controls and procedures.  Sysco’s disclosure controls and procedures have been designed to provide reasonable
assurance of achieving their objectives.  Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of
March 31, 2018, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of such date, Sysco’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2018, that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.  Legal Proceedings

None

Item 1A.  Risk Factors

The information set forth in this report should be read in conjunction with the risk factors discussed in Item 1A of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 1, 2017, and subsequent filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We made the following share repurchases during the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018:

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Period

(a) Total
Number of
Shares
Purchased (1)

(b)
Average
Price
Paid per
Share

(c) Total
Number of
Shares
Purchased
as Part of
Publicly
Announced
Plans or
Programs

(d)
Maximum
Number of
Shares that
May Yet
Be
Purchased
Under the
Plans or
Programs

Month #1
 December 31 - January 27 908,968 $ 61.76 903,760 —
Month #2
January 28 - February 24 1,264,306 59.80 1,264,306 —
Month #3
February 25 - March 31 488,344 59.82 485,014 —
Total 2,661,618 $ 60.47 2,653,080 —

(1) The total number of shares purchased includes 5,208, 0 and 3,330 shares tendered by individuals in connection with
stock option exercises in Month #1, Month #2 and Month #3, respectively.

We routinely engage in share repurchase programs. In February 2017, our Board of Directors approved a repurchase
program authorizing the repurchase of shares of the company’s common stock not to exceed $1.0 billion through the
end of fiscal 2019. In November 2017, our Board of Directors approved a repurchase program to authorize the
repurchase of the company’s common stock not to exceed $1.5 billion through the end of fiscal 2020. These repurchase
programs are intended to allow Sysco to continue offsetting dilution resulting from shares issued under the company’s

Edgar Filing: SYSCO CORP - Form 10-Q

97



benefit plans and to make opportunistic repurchases. These share repurchase programs were approved using a dollar
value limit and, therefore, is not included in the table above for “Maximum Number of Shares that May Yet Be
Purchased Under the Plans or Programs.”

We repurchased 16.9 million shares during the first 39 weeks of fiscal 2018, resulting in a remaining authorization
under our programs of approximately $1.6 billion. We purchased 29.1 million shares in the first 39 weeks of fiscal
2017. We purchased approximately 235,000 additional shares under these authorizations through April 20, 2018. The
number of shares we repurchase during the remainder of fiscal 2018 will be dependent on many factors, including the
level of future stock option exercises, as well as competing uses for available cash.

Item 3.  Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None
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Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable

Item 5.  Other Information

None

Item 6.  Exhibits

The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index immediately preceding such exhibits, which is incorporated herein by
reference, are filed as a part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

58

Edgar Filing: SYSCO CORP - Form 10-Q

99



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Sysco Corporation
(Registrant)

Date: May 7, 2018 By:/s/ THOMAS L. BENÉ
Thomas L. Bené
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 7, 2018 By:/s/ JOEL T. GRADE
Joel T. Grade
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Date: May 7, 2018 By:/s/ ANITA A. ZIELINSKI
Anita A. Zielinski
Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer
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EXHIBIT INDEX

3.1 —Restated Certificate of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(a) to Form 10-K for the year
ended June 28, 1997 (File No. 1-6544).

3.2 —Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation increasing authorized shares, incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3(e) to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 27, 2003 (File No. 1-6544).

3.3 —
Form of Amended Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(c) to Form 10-K for the year ended June 29, 1996 (File
No. 1-6544).

3.4 —Amended and Restated Bylaws of Sysco Corporation dated August 26, 2016, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to Form 8-K filed on August 31, 2016 (File No. 1-6544).

4.1 —
Thirty-Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 19, 2018, among Sysco, the Guarantors and the
Trustee relating to the 2025 Notes, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K filed on March 19,
2018 (File No. 1-6544).

4.2 —
Thirty-Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 19, 2018, among Sysco, the Guarantors and the
Trustee relating to the 2048 Notes, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Form 8-K filed on March 19,
2018 (File No. 1-6544).

12.1# —Statement regarding Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

31.1# —CEO Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2# —CFO Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1# —CEO Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2# —CFO Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.1#—

The following financial information from Sysco Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2018 filed with the SEC on May 7, 2018, formatted in XBRL includes:  (i) Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2018, July 1, 2017 and April 1, 2017, (ii) Consolidated Results of Operations
for the thirteen and thirty nine week periods ended March 31, 2018 and April 1, 2017, (iii) Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income for the thirteen and thirty nine week periods ended March 31, 2018 and
April 1, 2017, (iv) Consolidated Cash Flows for the thirty nine week periods ended March 31, 2018 and April
1, 2017, and (v) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

___________
# Filed herewith
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